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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To The Members of Malnad Hospitals & Institute of Oncology Private Limited

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Malnad Hospitals & Institute of Oncology
Private Limited (“the Company”), which comprise the Balance Sheet as at 31 March, 2017, and the
Statement of Profit and Loss including Other Comprehensive Income, the Cash Flow Statement and the
Statement of Changes in Equity for the year then ended, and a summary of the significant accounting policies
and other explanatory information (hereinafter referred to as "the financial statements").

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the matters stated in Section 134(5) of the Companies
Act, 2013 (“the Act”) with respect to the preparation of these financial statements that give a true and fair
view of the financial position, financial performance including other comprehensive income, cash flows and
changes in equity of the Company in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in India,
including the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) prescribed under section 133 of the Act.

This responsibility also includes maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the
provisions of the Act for safeguarding the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting frauds and
other irregularities; selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and
estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal
financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the
accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the financial statements that give a true
and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

In conducting our audit, we have taken into account the provisions of the Act, the accounting and auditing
standards and matters which are required to be included in the audit report under the provisions of the Act,
the Rules made thereunder and the Order under section 143 (11) of the Act.

We conducted our audit of the financial statements in accordance with the Standards on Auditing specified
under Section 143(10) of the Act. Those Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from

material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and the disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal financial control relevant to the Company’s preparation
of the financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of the accounting estimates made by the Company’s Directors, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
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We believe that the audit evidence obtained by us is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion on the financial statements.

Opinion

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the aforesaid
financial statements give the information required by the Act in the manner so required and give a true and
fair view in conformity with the Indian Accounting Standards and the accounting principles generally
accepted in India, of the state of affairs of the Company as at 31 March, 2017, and its profit, total
comprehensive income, its cash flows and the changes in equity for the year ended on that date.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
1. As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, based on our audit, we report to the extent applicable that:

(a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge
and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit.

(b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the Company so far as
it appears from our examination of those books.

(c) The Balance Sheet, the Statement of Profit and Loss including Other Comprehensive Income, the
Cash Flow Statement and Statement of Changes in Equity dealt with by this Report are in agreement
with the books of account.

(d) In our opinion, the aforesaid financial statements comply with the Indian Accounting Standards
prescribed under section 133 of the Act.

(e) On the basis of the written representations received from the directors as on 31 March, 2017 taken on
record by the Board of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as on 31 March, 2017 from
being appointed as a director in terms of Section 164(2) of the Act.

(f) With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls over financial reporting of the Company
and the operating effectiveness of such controls, refer to our separate Report in “Annexure A”. Our
report expresses an unmodified opinion on the adequacy and operating effectiveness of the Company’s

internal financial controls over financial reporting.

(g) With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with Rule 11
of the Companies (Audit and Auditor’s) Rules, 2014, as amended, in our opinion and to the best of

our information and according to the explanations given to us:
i. The Company does not have any pending litigations which would impact its financial position.

ii. The Company did not have any long-term contracts including derivative contracts for which there
were any material foreseeable losses.

iii. There were no amounts which were required to be transferred to the Investor Education and
Protection Fund by the Company.
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iv. The Company has provided requisite disclosures in the financial statements as regards its holdin%
and dealings in Specified Bank Notes as defined in the Notification S.0. 3407(E) dated the §
November, 2016 of the Ministry of Finance, during the period from 8" November 2016 to 30"
December 2016. Based on audit procedures performed and the representations provided to us by
the management we report that the disclosures are in accordance with the books of account

maintained by the Company.

2. As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2016 (“the order” or “CARO 2016”) issued by
the Central Government in terms of Section 143(11) of the Act, we give in “Annexure B” a statement on

the matters specified in paragraphs 3 and 4 of the Order.

For DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS
Chartered Accountants
(Firms’ Registration No. 008072S)

NEAS

V.Balaji
Partner
(Membership No. 203685)

BENGALURU, May2 2, 2017
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ANNEXURE “A” TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
(Referred to in paragraph (f) under ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements’ section of

our report of even date)

Report on the Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting under Clause (i) of Sub-section 3
of Section 143 of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”)

We have audited the internal financial controls over financial reporting of Malnad Hospital & Institute of
Oncology Private Limited (“the Company”) as of 31 March 2017 in conjunction with our audit of the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended on that date.

Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls

The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial controls based
on the internal control over financial reporting criteria established by the Company considering the essential
components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over
Financial Reporting (“the Guidance Note”) issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. These
responsibilities include the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls
that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of its business, including
adherence to company’s policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and
errors, the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable
financial information, as required under the Companies Act, 2013.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal financial controls over financial
reporting based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Guidance Note issued by the
Institute of Chartered Accountants of India and the Standards on Auditing prescribed under Section 143(10)
of the Companies Act, 2013, to the extent applicable to an audit of internal financial controls. Those Standards
and the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal financial controls over financial reporting was
established and maintained and if such controls operated effectively in all material respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal
financial controls system over financial reporting and their operating effectiveness. Our audit of internal
financial controls over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal financial controls
over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the
design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. The procedures selected
depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the

financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls system over financial reporting.

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting

A company's internal financial control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal
financial control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions

K
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of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and
that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorisations of
management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorised acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a

material effect on the financial statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls over financial reporting, including the
possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or
fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of the internal financial controls
over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the internal financial control over financial
reporting may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with

the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Opinion

In our opinion, to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the Company
has, in all material respects, an adequate internal financial controls system over financial reporting and such
internal financial controls over financial reporting were operating effectively as at 31 March 2017, based on
the internal control over financial reporting criteria established by the Company considering the essential
components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants

of India.

For DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS
Chartered Accountants
(Firms’ Registration No. 008072S)

RS

V.Balaji
Partner
(Membership No. 203685)

BENGALURU, May 23, 2017
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ANNEXURE B TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
(Referred to in paragraph 2 under ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements’ section of

our report of even date)

M

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(a) The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars, including
quantitative details and situation of fixed assets.

(b) The Company has a programme of verification of fixed assets to cover all items in a
phased manner over a period of 3 years which, in our opinion, is reasonable having
regard to the size of the Company and nature of its assets. Pursuant to the programme,
certain fixed assets were physically verified by the Management. According to the
information and explanation given to us, no material discrepancies were noted on such

verification.

(¢) The Company does not have any immovable properties of freehold or leasehold land and
building and hence reporting under clause (i)(c) of the CARO 2016 is not applicable.

As explained to us, the inventories were physically verified during the year by the
Management at reasonable intervals and no material discrepancies were noticed on physical

verification.

The Company has not granted any loans, secured or unsecured, to companies, firms, limited
liability partnerships or other parties covered in the register maintained under section 189 of

the Companies Act, 2013.

The Company has not granted any loans, made investments or provided guarantees and hence
reporting under clause (iv) of the CARO 2016 is not applicable.

According to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has not accepted
any deposit during the year.

The maintenance of cost records has not been specified by the Central Government under sub-
section (1) of Section 148 of the Companies Act, 2013.

According to the information and explanations given to us, in respect of statutory dues:

(a) The Company has been regular in depositing undisputed statutory dues, including
Provident Fund, Employees’ State Insurance, Income-tax, Sales Tax, Service Tax,
Customs Duty, Excise Duty, Value Added Tax, cess and other material statutory dues

applicable to it to the appropriate authorities.

(b) There were no undisputed amounts payable in respect of Provident Fund, Employees’
State Insurance, Income-tax, Sales Tax, Service Tax, Customs Duty, Excise Duty, Value
Added Tax, cess and other material statutory dues in arrears as at 31 March 2017 for a
period of more than six months from the date they became payable.

(c¢) There are no dues of Income-tax, Sales Tax, Service Tax, Customs Duty, Excise Duty,
and Value Added Tax as on March 31, 2017 on account of disputes.

In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company
has not defaulted in the repayment of loans or borrowings to financial institutions and banks.
The Company has not issued any debentures and did not have any borrowings from

government.
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(ix)

)

(xi)

(xii)

(xiii)

(xiv)

(xv)

(xvi)

The Company has not raised moneys by way of initial public offer/ further public offer
(including debt instruments) and the term loans have been applied by the Company during the
year for the purposes for which they were raised, other than temporary deployment pending

application of proceeds.

To the best of our knowledge and according to the information and explanations given to us,
no fraud by the Company and no material fraud on the Company by its officers or employees

has been noticed or reported during the year.

The Company is a private company and hence the provisions of section 197 of the Companies
Act, 2013 do not apply to the Company.

The Company is not a Nidhi Company and hence reporting under clause (xii) of the Order is
not applicable.

In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company
has disclosed the details of related party transactions in the financial statements etc. as
required by the applicable accounting standards.

During the year the Company has not made any preferential allotment or private placement
of shares or fully or partly convertible debentures and hence reporting under clause (xiv) of
the Order is not applicable to the Company.

In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, during the year
the Company has not entered into any non-cash transactions with its directors or directors of
its holding, subsidiary or associate company or persons connected with them and hence
provisions of section 192 of the Companies Act, 2013 are not applicable.

The Company is not required to be registered under section 45-IA of the Reserve Bank of
India Act, 1934.

For DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS
Chartered Accountants
(Firms’ Registration No. 008072S)

VA

V.Balaji
Partner
{(Membership No. 203685)

BENGALURU, May<«3, 2017



Mainad Hospital & Institute of Oncology Private Limited

Rs. in Million
Bafance Sheet as at Note No 31-Mar-17 31-Mar16 a1-Apris
ASSETS
Non-current assets
(a) Property, Plant and Equipment 5 B.63 9,13 7.05
{b) Other Intangible assets [ 0.10 013 0.18
{c} Financial Assets
(i) Other financial assets 8 6.33 5.61 5.47
(d) Deferred tax assets (Net) 26.2 3.08 3.02 318
{e} Income tax assets (Net) 26.3 0.18 3.88 0.01
Total Non - Current Assets 18.34 21.77 15.87
Current assets
{a} Inventories 10 0.98 0.968 0.97
(b} Financial assets
(i} Trade receivables ¥ 30.05 12.47 13.31
(ity Cash and cash equivalents 12 3.01 1.68 2.03
(iii} Loans 7 0.24 0.33 0.39
(iv) Other financial assets 8 - 0.02 0.37
(c) Other current assets 9 0.18 0.12 0.11
Total current assets 34.46 15,59 17.18
Total assets 52.80 37.36 33.08
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
(&) Equity Share capital 13 9.50 8.50 a.50
{b) Other equity 14 0.01 {2.82) (2.84)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 9.51 8.58 5.56
Liabilities
Non-current Habilities
(a) Financial Liabilities
(i Borrowings 15 1.80 2.86 2.35
(b} Provisions 17 1.38 1.05 0.68
Total Non - Current Liabilities 3.16 3.9 3.03
Current fiabilities
(a) Financial Liabilities
{1} Trade payables 18 12.70 10.99 7.48
(iiy Other financial liabilities 16 23.97 11.60 877
(b} Other current liabilities 18 3.41 4,25 6.06
(¢} Provisions 17 0.05 0.03 0.17
Total Current Liabilities 48,13 26.87 23.48
Total Liabilities 43.29 30.78 26,49
Total Equity and Liabilities 5&80 37.36 33.05

See accompanying notes fo the financial statements

In terms of our report attached,
For Deloitte Haskins & Sells
Chartered Accountants

VR

V. Balaji

INTANTS) 2 |

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

\

Director

Place

U~

"

'\ Dr. Mallesh Hullamani

Date : ,23 5.200%

Dr.T/Nargiddra BHat
igfetor )

_M



Malnad Hospital & institute of Oncology Private Limited

Rs. in Million
Statement of Profit and Loss for the years ended Note No. 31-Mar-17 31-Mar-16
[ Revenue from Operations 20 46.69 39.03
il Other Income 21 0.04 0.21
l Total Income {I+H) 46.73 38.24
IV Expenses
Purchases of Stock-in-trade 12.92 12.33
Changes in inventory of stock-in-trade (0.02) 0.01
Employee benefit expense 22 10.30 7.95
Finance costs 23 0.43 0.57
Depreciation and amottisation expense 24 1.72 1.67
Other expenses 25 17.13 16.51
Total expenses {IV}) 4248 39.04
V' Profit before tax (Hi-iV} 4.25 0.20
Vil Tax expense
(1) Current tax 281 1.41 -
{2} Deferred tax 26.1 (0.06) 0.14
1.35 0.14
Vi Profit for the year (V-VI) 2.90 0.06
Vill Other Comprehensive Income
(i) items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
(@) Remeasurements of the defined benefit liabilities / (asset) 30.2 0.04 (0.08)
(b} Income tax on the above (0.01) 0.02
0.03 {0.04}
X Total comprehensive income for the year [Vil+Viil) 2.93 0.02
Earnings per equity share
Basic (Face value of Rs.100 each) 27.1 30.54 0.63
27.2 30.54 0.63

Diluted {Face value of Rs.100 each)

See accompanying notes to the financial statements

In terms of our report attached.
For Deloitte Haskins & Sells
Chartered Accountants

WA

V. Balaji
Partner

{ cHaRTERED |2
CCLOUNTANTS f:f,

i

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

{ Br, Mallesh Hulfiamani
¢ Director

|
i
E
i

Place :

Date : £ 3-5 -200F



Malnad Hospital & Institute of Oncology Private Limited

e Rs. in Million _
Cash Flow Statement for the years ended 31-Mar-17 31-Mar-16
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax for the year 4.25 0.20
Adjustments for:
Finance costs 0.34 0.52
Investment income {0.01) (0.02)
Depreciation and amortisation 1.72 1.67
Movements in working capital:
{Increase}/ decrease in trade receivables (17.58) 0.84
{Increase) / decrease in inventories (0.02} 0.01
(Increase) / decrease in other assets 0.03 0.42
Increase / (decrease) in trade and other payablas 1.73 3.51
Increase / {decrease) in provisions 0.33 0.23
Increase / (decrease) in other liabilities {0.84) (1.81)
Cash generated from operations {10.05} 8,57
Income taxes paid (net of refunds) 2.28 (3.87)
Net cash generated by / (used in) operating activities {7.77) 170
Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds on sale of financial assets {0.01) 0.08
interest received 0.03 -
Amounts advanced by related parties 11.698 1.03
Payments for property, plant and equipment (1.21) (3.68)
Met cash {used in} / generated by investing activities 10.40 k(2,5k7w)n
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings - 0.85
Repayment of borrowings (0.87) -
Interest paid (0.34) (0.42)
Net cash {used in) / generated by financing activities {1.31) 0.53
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1.32 {0.34)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 1.68 2.03
3.01 1.69

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year
See accompanying notes to the financial statements
In terms of our report attached.

For Deloitte Haskins & Sells
Chartered Accountants

AY e
V. Balaji e
Partner e wu/\’
o
;{%T/ NON
E“/PHQWFRED r’%}
I
Place : Beun awa”c“o HTANTS ) = )

Date: a3~¢- AOQ%
L2

For and
TR
L

Dr. Mallesh Hullamani

on behalf of the Board of Directors

Director
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Malnad Hospital & Institute of Oncology Private Limited

Notes to the financial statements
1 Malnad Hospital & Institute of Oncolagy Private Limited is engaged in setting up and managing cancer hospitals, cancer centers and medical diagnostic
services. The registered office of the company is situated at No. 600/601, Irwin Road, Mysore - 570 001,

2 Significant accounting policies

2.1 Statement of compliance
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Indian Accounting Standards (“ind AS”) notified under the Companies (Indian Accounting

Standards) Rules, 2015 and Companies (indian Accounting Standards) Amendment Rules, 2016, as applicable. For periods up to and including the year
ended March 31, 2016, the Company had prepared its financial statements in accordance with the applicable Accounting Standards in India (‘previous
GAAP'). These are the Company's first Ind AS financial statements. The date of transition to Ind AS is April 1, 2015, Refer Note 3 for the explanations of
transition to Ind AS including the details of first-ime adoption exemptions availed by the Company.

2.2 Basls of preparation and presentation
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments that are measured at fair values at the end

of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value Is the price that would be received to sefl an asset or paid fo transfer a fiability in an orderly fransaction between market participants at the

measturement date,
In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2, or 3 basad on the degree fo which the inputs fo the fair
value measursments are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabiliies that the entity can access at the measurement date;
Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Levsl 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either direclly or indirectly; and

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liabiity.

2.3 Use of estimates and judgement

In the application of the Company's accounting policies, the directors of the Company are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these sstimates,

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the
astimate is revised if the revision affects only that peried, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods,

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncerfainty at the end of the reporting period that may
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

a) Revenue Recognition
Revenue from fees charged for inpatient and outpatient hospital/dlinical services rendered to insured and corporate patients are subject to approvals for the

insurance companies and corporates. Accordingly, the company estimates the amounts fikely to be disallowed by such companies based on past trends.
Estimations based on past trends are also required in determining the value of consideration from customers to be allocated to award credits for customers,

b} Useful lives of property, plant and equipment
The Company reviews the useful life of property, plant and squipment at the end of each reporting period. This reassessment may result in change in the

depreciation expenss in future periods.

¢} Employee Benefits
The cost of defined bensfit plans are determined using actuarial valuations. The actuarial valuation involves making assumptions about discount rates,

expected rates of return on assets, future salary increases, mortality rates and future pension increases. Due to the long-term nature of these plans, such
estimates ars subject to significant uncertainty,

d} Deferred Tax assets
The carrying amount of deferred tax assst is reviewed at each reporting period and is reduced to the extent that itis no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

e} Valuation of deferred tax assets
The company reviews the carrying amount of deferred tax assets at the end of sach reporting period. The policy for the same has been explained under

Note 2.10.2

2.4 Revenue recognition
2.5.1 Rendering of services
Healtheare Services
Revenue primarily comprises fees charged for inpatient and outpatient hospital services. Services indude charges for accommodation, medical professional
services, equipment, radiology, laboratory and pharmaceutical goods used in treatments given to Patients. Revenue is recorded and recognised during the
. period in which the hospital service is provided, based upon the estimated amournts due from patients and/for medical funding entities. Unbilled revenus is
//;:\ A5 K?x\recorded for the service whers the patients are not discharged and invoice is net raised for the service.
1 ot
'\((’/” JT\Ne service revenues are presented net of related doctor fees and diagnostic charges in cases where the company is not the primary obligor and does not




Notes to the financial statements
Income from Clinical Trials on behalf of Pharmaceutical Companies is recognized on completion of the service, based on the terms and conditions specified

o each contract.
Other services fee is recognized on basis of the services rendered and as per the terms of the agreement.

2.5.2 Sale of Goods

Pharmacy Sales are recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership is transfarred to the customer. Revenue is measursd at the fair value of
the consideration received or receivable, taking into account confractually defined terms of payment and excluding taxes or duties collected on behalf of the
government. Revenue is reduced for rebates and loyalty points granted upon purchase and are stated net of returns and discounts wherever applicable.

2.4.3 Dividend and interest income

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the right to receive payment has been established (provided that it is probable that the sconomic
benefits will flow to the Company and the amount of income can be measured reliably).

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company and the amount of income can be
measured reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial

recognition.

2.5 Leases

2.

o

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other
leases are classified as operating leases.

Assets held under finance leases are initially capitalised as assets of the company at their fair value at the inception of the lease or, if fower, at the present
value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability fo the lessor is included in the balance sheet as a finance lease obligation. Lease
payments are apporfioned between finance expenses and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the fiabifity.

Rental expense from operating leases is generally recognised on a straight-ine basis over the term of tha relevant leass. Where the rentals are structured
solely to increase in line with expected general inflation to compensate for the lessor's expected inflationary cost increases, such increases are recognised in
the year in which such benefits accrue. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are

incurred.

Foreign currency translation

The functional currency of the Company and its Indian subsidiaries Is the Indian Rupee (Rs.)
Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for:
+ exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating fo assets under construction for future productive use, which are included in the cost of those

assets when they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs on those foreign currency borrowings;

« exchange differences arising from transtation of long-term foreign currency manetary items recognised in the financial statements of the Company for the
period immediately before the beginning of the first Ind AS financial reporting period (prior to April 1, 2016), as per the pravious GAAP, pursuant to the
Company's choice of availing the exemption as permitted by Ind AS 101,

Neon-monetary assets and liabilities that are msasured in terms of historical cost in foreign currencies are not retranslated.
Income and expense items in foreign currency are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly

during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used.

2.7 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs include:

(1) interest expense calculated using the effective interest rate mathod,

(i} finance charges in respect of finance leases, and

{iil) exchange differences arising from foreign currency borrowings to the extent that they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of ime to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale,

Interest income earmed on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the barrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing casts are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

2.8 Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Company will comply with the conditions attaching to them and that the
grants will be received.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to
the Company with no future related costs are recognised in statement of profit and loss in the period in which they become receivable.
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2.10.2
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Notes to the financial statements

Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs and termination benefits

Payments to defined contribution retirernent benefit plans are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service entitling them to the
conftributions.

For dafined benefit retirement bensfit plans, the cost of providing benefits is determined using the projected unit credit method, with actuarial valuations
being carried out at the end of each annual reporting period. Remeasurament, comprising actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the changes to the asset
cailing (if applicable} and the retum on plan assets (excluding net interest), is reflected in the balance sheet with a charge or credit recognised in other
comprehensive incoms in the period in which they occur. The service cost (including current service cost, past service cost, as well as gains and losses on
curtailments and settfements) is recognised in the Statement of profit and loss in the line item 'Employee benefits expense’. Net interest is calculated by
applying the discount rate at the beginning of the period to the net defined benefit liability or asset. The net interest sxpense is recognised in the statement of

profit and loss in the line item Finance costs’.

Defined contribution plan

Contribution to defined contribution plans are recognised as expense when employees have rendered services entitling them to such benefits.

Compensated absences

Compensated absences which are not expected to oceur within twelve months after the end of the period in which the employee renders the related services
are recognised at an actuarially determined liability at the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the Balance sheet date. In respect of
compensated absences expected to occur within twelve months after the end of the period in which the employee renders the related services, liability for
shortterm employee benefits is measured at the undiscounted amount of the benefils expected to be paid in exchange for the related service.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax,

Current fax
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before tax’ as reported in the statement of profit and loss

because of items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Company's cutrent
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding

tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognisad for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax asssts
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utifised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recogniticn of assets and liabiliies in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be avallable to allow all or part of the asset to bs recovered.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset realised,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax conssquences that would follow from the manner in which the Company expects, at
the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferrad tax assets include Minimum Alternate Tax (MAT) paid in accordance with the tax laws in India, which is likely to give future economic bensfits in the
form of availability of set-off against future tax liability. Accordingly, MAT is recognised as deferred tax asset in the Balance sheet when the asset can be
measured reliably and it is probable that the future econormic benefit associated with the asset will be realised.

Current and deferred tax for the year
Current and deferred tax are recognised in the Statement of profit and loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directy in equity respectively.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes, are stated in the balance shest at

cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Freehold land is not depreciated. All repairs and maintenance costs are charged to
the income staternent during the financial period in which they are incurred. Such assets are classified to the appropriate categories of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assels, on the same basis as other property assets, commences when the
assets are ready for their intended use.

Caost of Property, plant and equipment which are qualifying assets includes, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Company’s accounting policy.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets (other than freehold land and properies under construction) less their residual values over
their useful lives, using the straightdine method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the sams basis as owned assets. However, when there is no
reasonable certainty that ownership will be obtained by the end of the lease term, assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful
lives.

Estimated useful fives of the assets are as follows:

Buildings {Freshold) 60 years
Buildings (Leasehold) and other leasehold Lease term or useful life whichever is lower
improvemsnts
Plant and Medical Equipment 10-15 years
Data processing equipment 3-8 years
/’ /\% AS ’(E;R/ Fumniture and fixtures 10 years
Al S Office equipment 5 years
/. “*/ ehicles 8 years
[c i
i
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Notes to the financial statements

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of
the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference bstween the
sales proceeds and the camrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the Statement of profit and loss.

For fransition to Ind AS, the Company has elected to adopt the carrying value of all of its property, plant and equipment recognised as of April 1, 2015
(transition date) measured as per the previous GAAP and use that carrying value as its deemed cost as of the fransition date, except in respect of buildings
under finance lease recognised in previous GAAP, to the extent it included lease component of land,

2.12 Intangible assets

2.12.1 Intangible assets acquired separately
intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are camied at cost less accumulated amorfisation and accumulated impairment Josses,

Amartisation is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis, Intangible assets with indefinite useful
fives that are acquired separately are carrled at cost less acoumulated impairment losses.

2.12.3 Derecognition of intangible assets
An intangible asset Is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from
derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference betwesn the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in
profit or loss when the asset is derecognised,

2.12.3 Useful lives of intangible assets
Estimated useful lives of the intangible assets are as follows:

Type of asset Useful Life
Computer softwars and data processing software |6 ysars

2.12.4 Deemed cost on transition to ind AS
For transition to Ind AS, the company has elected to continue with the carrying value of all of its intangible assets recognised as of April 1, 2015 (transition

date) measured as per the previous GAAP and use that carrying value as its desmed cost as of the transition date,

2.13 Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value on the first-in-first-out basis, Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the

ordinary course of business, less applicable varable sefling expenses. Cost of inventories comprises of all costs of purchase and other costs incurred in
bringing the inventories to their present location, after adjusting for VAT wherever applicable applying FIFO method.

Imported inventories are accountsd for at the applicable exchange rates prevailing on the date of transaction.

2.14 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that the company will

be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obiigation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (when the effect of the ime value of money is material).

2.15 Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Company becomes a party 1o the contraciual provisions of the instruments,

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, Transaction costs that are direcly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabiliies (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from
the fair valus of the financial assets or financial liabiliies, as appropriate, on initial recognition, Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in the statement of profit and loss.

Cash and cash equivalents
The Company considers all highly fiquid financial instruments, which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash that are subject to an insignificant

risk of change in value and having eriginal maturities of three menths or less from the date of purchase, to be cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents
cohsists of balances with banks which are unrestricted for withdrawal and usage.

Financial assets at amortised cost
Financial assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost if these financial assets are held within a business whose objective is to hold these assets in

order to collect contractual cash flows and contractual terms of financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets are meastred at fair value through profit or loss unless it measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income
on initial recognition. The fransaction cost directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
immediately recognised in the statement of profit or loss

Financial liabilities
Finandial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method

2.16 Impairment
{i) Financial assets {other than at fair value)




Hetes fo the Bnancial statements

The company assesses at each date of balance sheet, whether a financial asset or a Company of financial assets is impaired. Ind AS 108 requires expectad
credit losses to be measured though a loss allowance. The company recognises fifetime expected losses for all confract assets and / or all trade receivables
that do not constitute a financing transaction. For all other financial assets, expected credit losses are measursd at an amount equal to the twelve-month
expected credit losses or at an amount equal fo the life time expected credit losses if the credit risk an the financial asset has increased significantly, since

initial recognition,

(ii} Non-financial assets

Property, Plant and equipment and intangible assets with finite life are evaluated for recoverability whenever there is an indication that their carrying amounts
may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount (i.e. higher of the fair value less cost to sell and the value-in-use) is determined
on an individual asset basis unless the asset does not generate cash flows that are largely independent of those from other assets. In stch cases, the
recoverable amount is determined for cash generating unit (CGU) to which the asset bejongs.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset {or CGU) is reduced to it's
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised in the statement of profit and Joss.

2.17 Eamings per share
Basic earnings per share are computed by dividing profit or loss attributable to equity sharsholders of the company by the weighted average number of

equity shares outstanding during the year.

Diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing theé net profit after tax by the weighted average number of equity shares considered for deriving basic
EPS and also weighted average number of equity shares that could have been issued upon conversion of all dilutive potential equity shares, Dilutive
potential equity shares are deemed converted as of the beginning of the period, unlass issued at a later date. Dilutive potential equity shares are determined

independently for each period presented,

3 Explanation of transition to Ind AS

3.1 The Company has prepared the opening balance sheet as per Ind AS of April 1, 2015 (the transition date) by recognising all assets and liabilities whose
recognition is required by Ind AS, not recognising items of assets or liabilities which are not permitted by Ind A8, by redlassifying items from previcus GAAP
to Ind AS required under Ind AS, and applying Ind AS in measurement of racognised assets and liabilities. Howsver, this principle is subject to the certain
mandatory exceptions under Ind AS 101 and certain optional exemptions permitted under Ind AS 101 availed by the Company as detailed below.

b} Deemed cost for property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets
The Company has elected to continue with the carrying value of all of its property, plant and equipment and intangible assets recognised as of April 1, 2015

(transition date) measured as per the previcus GAAP and use that carrying value as its deemed cost as of the transition date.

4 The reconciliations betwesn previous GAAP and ind AS, and explanations for the significant differences on account of transiticn to Ind AS are explained
{i} Equity reconciliation

Rs. in Million
Particufars As at As at
31-Mar<16 01-Apr-15
Total equity (Shareholders' funds) under previous GAAP 6.56 8.56
ind AS adjustments: - -
Total equity under ind AS 6.56 §.56

{ii} Total comprehensive income reconciliation

Rs. in Million

Particulars Year ended
31-Mar-16

Net profit/ {loss) under Previous GAAP 0.02
Ind AS adjustments:
Actuarial gains/ losses recognised on other comprehensive income 0.06
Deferred tax adjustments on the above (Net} (0.02)
Net profit/ {foss) under Ind AS D08
OCther comprehensive income under ind AS
Actuarial gains/ losses recognised on other comprehensive income (D.06)
Deferred tax adjustments on the above (Nst) 0.02
Total comprehensive income / (loss) under Ind AS 0.02

(ifi) Reconcillation of statement of cash flow:

There are no material adjustments to the statement of cash flows as reported under previous GAAP.
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Malnad Hospital & Institute of Oncology Private Limited
Notes to the financial statements
{Amounts in Rs. Million unless otherwise stated)

Other intangible assets

As at As at As at
31-Mar-17 31-Mar-16 01-Apr-15
Carrying amountis of:
Computer software 0.10 0.13 0.16
0.10 0.13 0.16
Other intangible assets
Description of Assets Computer r Total
software
i. Cost
As at 1 April, 2015 0.16 0.16
Additions - -
Balance as at 31 March, 2016 0.16 0.16
Additions - -
Balance as at 31 March, 2017 0.16 0.16
il. Accumulated amortisation and impairment
Amortisation expense 0.03 0.03
Balance as at 31 March, 2016 0.03 0.03
Amortisation expense 0.03 0.03
Balance as at 31 March, 2017 0.06 0.06
Net Block as at 31 March, 2016 013 0.13
0.10 0.10

Net Block as at 31 March, 2017
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Malnad Hospital & Institute of Oncology Private Limited
Notes to the financial statements

(Amounts in Rs, Million unless otherwise stated)

7 Loans

Loans and advances (unsecured) to employees
Considered good
Totaf

8 Other Financial Assets

Security deposits
Advances to related parties(Refer note 33)

Unbilled revenue
Interest accrued on deposits

g Other Assets

Unsecured, considered good
Prepaid expenses

10 Invertories
a) Inventories (lower of cost and net realisable value)

Medicines
Other Consumables

11 Trade receivables
Trade receivables {unsecured) consist of following
a) considered good
b} considered doubtful

Allowanos for doubtfi debts (sxpedted credit loss allowance}

Jt-par4 7 31-Mar-16 0t-Apr-18
Non Cutrent Current fNon Current Current Non Cumrent Current
. 0.24 - 0.33 - 039
- 0.24 - 0.33 - 0.38
-Mard7 3t-Mar-16 M-Apr-i5
Non Current Current Non Cugrent Current Non Current Current
3.65 - 3.64 - 3.72 -
2.68 - 1.97 - 1.75 -
- - - - - 0.37
- - - 0.02 - -
§.33 - §.61 8.02 5.47 0.37
F-Mar-17 31Mar-16 01-Apr-15
Non Carrent Current Non Current Current Non Current Current
- 0.18 - 0.142 - a.11
- 0.48 = 842 - a.11
31-Mar-17 31-Mar-16 1-Apr45
0.92 8.90 0.90
0.08 0.06 0.07
£.98 0.86 0.87
31-Mar17 31-Mar-16 01-Apr-15
Non Current Current Non Current Lurrent Nopn Current Current
- 30.05 - 12.47 - 13.31
- 8.58 -~ 8.68 - 8.58
- 38.73 - 2115 - 22,86
- {8.68) - {8.68) - {8.55)
- 30.05 - 1247 - 13.31

The company has used a practical expedient by computing the expected credit loss allowance for trade receivables based on a provision matrix. The provision matrix takes into account
historical credit loss experience and adjusted for forward looking information, The expected credit loss allowance is based or the ageing of the days the receivables are due and the rates as

given in the provision matrix, The provision matrix af the end of the reporting period is as folfows:

11.1 Movement in the expected oredit loss aliowance

Balance at beginning of the year
Additional provision during the year
Reversal of provision during the year
Balarice at end of the year

Note: Trade recsivables include duss from companies in which any director is a director or member

Companies in which any director is a director or member
Heaithcare Global Enterprises Limited
Gutti Malnad LLP

12 Cash and cash equivalents

Balances with Banks
- {n surrent accounts
~In deposits accounts
Cash on hand
Cash and cash equivalents as per balance sheet

Cash and cash equivalents as per statement of cash flows

Year ended Year ended
Jt-Mar-17 31-Mar-16
8.68 9.5
- (0.87)
B.68 8,68
As at As at Agat
3t-Mar-17 31-Mar-16 o1-Apr-15
0.04 0.04 0.04
1.15 0.57 -
As at As at As at
31-Mar47 31-Mar-15 O1-Apr-1&
287 1.27 1.87
- 0.36 -
0.04 Q.06 0.06
3.01 1.68 2,03
3.01 1,88 203

Pursuant to the MCA notification G.8.R. 308(E) dated March 30, 2017, the details of Specified Bank Notes (SBN)* held and transacted during the period from November 8, 2016 to Dacember

30, 2016 arp provided in the tabls below:
Other denomination
Total
Particulars SBNs notes

Closing cash in hand as on Novamber 8, 2016 0.06 0.01 0.07
{+) Permitted receipts - 2.73 2,73
{~) Permitied payments - (0.03) (003}
-y Amount deposited in Banks {0.086) {2.65) (271}
Closing cash in hand as on December 30, 2018 - 0.08 0.086 |

3407(E}, dated the November 8, 2016

* The term ‘Specified Bank Notes’ have the same meaning provided in the notification of the Government of India, in the Ministry of Finance, Department of Economic Affairs number S.0,



Malnad Hospital & Institute of Oncology Private Limited
Notes to the financial statements

{Amounts in Rs, Milion unless otherwise stated)

43 Equity Share Capital

Authorised Share capital ;
150,000 fully paid equity shares of Rs, 100 sach

Issued and subscribed capital comprises:

94,956 fully paid equity shares of Rs.100 each (as at March 31, 2016: 94,956, as at April 1, 2015: 94,956)

12.1 Fully paid equity shares

Balance at April 1, 2015
Issued during the yaar

Balance at March 31, 2016
Issued during the year
Balance at March 31, 2017

As at As at As at
31-Mar-{7 31-Mar-16 1-Apr-15
15,00 15.00 15.00
8.50 8.50 8.50

Number of shares

Share capital

{Amount)
84,956 8.50
54,856 a.50
94,956 9.50

Fully paid equity shares, which have a par value of Rs.100, carry one vote per share and carry a right to dividends The Company has only one class of equity shars having a par valus of
Rs.100/- each. Holder of equity shares is entitled to one vote per share. In the event of liquidation of the Company, the holders of the equity shares wil be sntitled to recaive any of the
remaining assets of the Company, after distribution of al preferential amount, However, as on date no such prefsrential amount exists. The distribution will be in propottion to number of

equity shares held by the shareholders.

13.2 Details of shares held by each shareholder holding more than 5% shares

Fully paid equity shares
HealthCare Global Enterprises Limited

14 Other equity

Retained earnings
Remeasurements of the defined benefit liabilities / (asset)

14.1 Retained earnings

Balance at beginning of year
Profit attributable to owners of the company
Balance at end of year

14.2 Remeasurements of the defined benefit liabilities / (asset)

Balance at baginning of year

As at March 31, 2017

As at March 31, 2016

As at Aprit 1, 2018

Number of

% holding of

Number of

% holding of

Number of

% holding of

Shares held equity shares  Shares held equity shares Shares held equity shares

66,706

Cther comprehensive incoms arising from remeasurement of defined benefit obligation

Balance at end of year
15 Borrowings

Secured - at amortised cost
@i} Term loans
fram banks
(it Vighicle Loan
(i) Loans and advance from refated parties(Refer Note 33)
Total

70.25%

66,706

Note

14.1
14,2

70.25% 66,706 70.25%
As at As at As at
31-Mar-17 34-Mar-16 1-Bpr-15
0.02 (2.88) {2.94)
{0.01) (0,04) -
0.04 {2.92) (2.94)
Year ended Year enided
3-Mar17 34-Mar-16
(2.88) (2.84)
2.90 0.08
6,02 {2.88)
Year ended Year ended
31-Mar-i7 34-Mar-16
{0.04) -
0.03 (0.04)
{0.01) {0.04)

As at March 31, 2018

As at April 1, 2018

As at March 31, 2047
Mon Current Current Non Current Current Non Current Current
1.61 - 2.32 - .85 -
0.19 - 0.24 - .20 -
- - 0.30 - 1.11 -
1.80 - 2,86 = 2,38 -




16.1 Summary of borrowing arrangements

Particulars 3i-Mar-17 31-Mar-16 31-Mar-15
Rs. Rs. Rs.
{i} Secured term loan from bank:
Facility-4
Non-current portion 057 0.78 .95
Amounts included under Current maturities of jong-term debt 021 0.18 017
- Security: Term loan is secured by hypothecation against medical equipment of Malnad Hospital & Institute of
Oncology Private Limited purchased out of finance
~ Rate of interest: Bank's base rate + 2.75% p.a
- Payable in 84 monthly installments commencing from the date of
Facility-2
Non-current portion 1.04 1.54 -
Amounts included under current maturities of long-term debt 0.48 0.43 -
- Security: Term loan is secured by hypothecation against medical equipment purchased out of finance Malnad
Hospital & Institute of Oncology Private Limited,
- Rate of interest: Bank's base rate + 2.75% p.a
~ Payable in 57 monthly instaliments commencing from the date of borrowing after moratotium period of 3
months,
(i} Secured vehicle foan from bank:
Non-current portion 0.18 0.24 0.29
Amounts included under Gurrent maturities of long-term debt 0.04 0.04 0.04
(i} Unsecured loans from related party, the Holding Company
Mon-current portien - 0.30 111
Amounts included under Current matLirities of long-term debt - - -
Repayment tetms: Loan repayable as and when the internal generation supports the repayment or a suitable
akternative third party funding is available.
Rate of interast: 12.00% p.a
Total 2,54 3.81 2.56
Mon-current portion 1.80 2,88 2.38
Amounts included under Current maturities of fong-term debt 0.74 0.55 0.21
16 Other Financial liabilities As at March 31, 2017 As at March 31, 2016 As at April 1, 2015
Non Current Current Non Current Current Non Current Current
a) Currert maturities of long-term debt (Refer note 15.1) - 0.74 - 0.85 - 0.21
b) Interest payable to holding company (Refer Note 33) - 0.30 - 0.30 - 0.20
©) Advance payable to holding company (Refer Note 33) - 22.87 - 10.57 - 8.32
d) Payables on purchase of fixed assetls - 0,08 - 0.08 - 0.04
Total " 23,97 - 11,60 - 8.77
17 Provisions As at March 31, 2017 As at March 31, 2016 As at April 1, 2018
Non Current Current Non Cutrrent Current Non Current Current
Employee benefits
Gratuity (Refer nate 30.2) 1.18 0.01 0.95 - .68 -
Compensated absences 0.17 0.04 0.10 0.03 ~ 017
Total 1.36 0.05 1.08 8.03 0.68 0.17
18 Trade Payables As at As at As at
31-Mar-17 31-Mar-16 01-Apr-15
Trade payables 12.70 10.98 7.46
Total 12,70 10.88 7.46
There are no micro and small enterprises to whom the Company owes dues which are outstanding as at the balance sheet date.
The information regarding Micro Enterprises and Small Enterprises have been determined to the extent such parties have beeon identified on the basis of
information available with the Campany.
48 Other labilities As at March 31, 2017 As at March 31, 2018 As at April 1, 2018
Non Current Current Non Current Current Non Current Cutrent
{a) Advance from customers - 3.14 - 3,99 - 578
(b) Statutory remittances - 0.27 - 0.28 - 0.30
Total - 3.41 - 4,25 - §.06
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Malnad Hospital & Institute of Oncology Private Limited
Notes to the financial statements

{Amounts in Rs. Million unless otherwise stated)

20 Revenue from Operations

(a) Revenue from rendering of healthcare services
{b) Revenue from sales at pharmacies
(c) Other operating revenuss

21 Other income

a) Interest on bank deposits
b) Miscellaneous income

22 Employee benefits expense

Salaries and wages

Contribution o provident and other funds (Refer note 30.1)
Gratuity Expenses (Refer note 30.2)

Staff welfare expenses

23 Finance costs

(a) Interest costs -
- Interest on bank overdrafts and loans
- Interest on loans from related parties (Refer note 33)
- Interest on defined benefit obligations (Refer note 30.2)

(b) Other borrowing cost:
- Bank charges
- Loan processing charges

24 Depreciation and amorfisation expense

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets
Total depreciation and amortisation expense

25 Other expenses

Power and fuel

House Keeping Expenses

Rent (Refer note 29.1)

Repairs to Buildings

Repairs to Machinery

Office Maintenance & Others
Insurance

Rates and Taxes, excluding taxes on income
Printing & Stationery

Advertisement, Publicity & Markefing
Travelling & Conveyance

Legal & Professional Fees

Audit Fee (Refer note 25.1)

Medical consultancy charges
Telephone Expenses

Provision for Bad Debts/(written back)
Lab charges

Miscellaneous expenses

_25.1 Payments to auditors

/?, AAS /) Par audit of financial statements

f pocket expenses and service tax on above

"i PHAW
{Accoun s

Year ended
March 31, 2017

Year ended
March 31, 2016

24.89 27.68
21,35 10.86

0.45 0.49

46,59 35,03
Year ended Year ended
March 31, 2047 Narch 31, 2018
.01 0.02

0.03 0.19

0.04 0.21
Year ended Year ended
March 31, 2017 March 31, 2018
8.36 6.24

1.14 0.99

0.25 0,21

0.55 0.51

10.30 7.98
Yeat ended Year ended
March 31, 2047 March 31, 2018
0.34 0.40

- 011

0.07 0.05

0.02 -

- 0.01

0.43 0,57
Year ended Year ended
March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016
1.89 1.64

0.03 0.03

1.72 1.87
Year ended Year ended
March 31, 2017  March 31, 2016
0.43 0.36

1.04 0.77

0.76 0.79

0.11 0.08

0.09 0.05

0.77 0.57

0.10 0.08

0.08 0.11

0.36 0.26

0.32 0.51

0.85 0.22

0.16 0.08

0.17 0.17

8.88 8.01

0.13 .14
- (D.87)

2.48 3.32

0.81 1.87

17.13 16.51

0.15 0.15

0.02 0.02

8.17 0.17




Malnad Hospital & Institute of Oncology Private Limited

Notes to the financial statements

{Amounts in Rs. Million unless otherwise stated)

26 Income tax expense

26.1 Income tax recognised in the Statement of profit and loss

Current tax:
in respect of the current year

Deferred tax
In respect of the current year

Total income tax expense recognised In the Statement of profit and loss

1.41 -
1.41 -
(0.06) 0.14
(0.086) 0.14
1.38 0.14

The reconciliation between the income tax expense of the company and amounts computed by applying the Indian statutory income tax rate to

profit before taxes is as follows:

Profit before tax for the year
Enacted income tax rate in India
Computed expected fax expense
Effect of:

Effect of expenses that are not deductible in determining taxable profit

26,2 Deferred tax balances

Deferred Tax Assets
Total

Significant components of net deferred fax assets and liabilities for the year ended March 31, 2017 are as follows:

Deferred tax assets / (liabilities) in relation to

Property, plant and equipment
Provision for doubtful debts
Defined benefit obligation

Tax losses

Others

Significant components of net deferred tax assets and labllities for the year ended March 31, 2016 are as follows:

Deferred tax assets / (liabilities) in relation to

Property, plant and equipment
Provision for doubtful debts
Defined benefit obligation

Tax losses

Others

4.25 0.20
30.90% 30.80%
1.31 0.08
0.04 0.08
1.35 0.14
As at As at As at
31-Mar-17 31-Mar-16 a1-Apr-15
3.09 3.02 3.18
3.09 3.02 3.18
Opening Recognised in Recognised in other Closing
Balance Statement of comprehensive Balance
Profit and Loss income
(0.40) 0.09 - {0.31)
2.68 - - 2.68
0.55 0.03 0.01 0.58
0.06 {0.06) - -
0.13 - - 0.13
3.02 0,08 0.01 3.08

Profit or Loss

Opening Balance Recognisedin Recognised in other
comprehensive

Cleosing Balance

income
{D.41) 0.01 - (0.40)
3.10 (0.42) - 2.68
0.39 0.18 (0.02) 0.55
- 0.06 - 0.06
0.10 0.03 - 0.13
3.18 {0.14) (0.02) 3.02

Under the Incoms Tax Act, 1961, unabsorbed business losses expire 8 years affer the year in which they originate. Tax benefits on unabsorbed business
losses have been recognised as deferred tax asset as it is probable that the fullire economic benefits associated with the asset will be realised.

26,3 Income tax asséts (Net)

Advance Tax (Net of provision for tax)

As at As at As at
31-Mar17 31-Mar-16 01-Apr-1§

0.19 3.88 0.01

0.19 3.88 0,01




Malnad Hospital & Institute of Oncology Private Limited
Notes to the financial statements

{Amounts in Rs. Million unless otherwise stated)

27 Earnings per Share

27.1 Basle earnings per share

The earnings and weighted average number of equity shares used in the calculation of basic eamings per share are as follows.

Profit / (loss) for the year atiributable to owners of the Company 2.90 0.068

The eamings used in the calculation of basic earnings per share 2.90 0.08

Weighted average number of equily shares for the purposes of basic earnings per share 94 956 94 956

Basic earnings per share for the year (amount in Rs.) 30.54 0,63

27.2 Diluted earnings per share

The earnings and weighted average number of equity shares used in the calculation of diluted earnings per share are as follows.

Earnings used in the calculation of diluted earnings per share 2.80 0.08

Weighted average number of equity shares used in the calculation of diluted earnings per share 94,856 94,856
30.54 0.63

Diluted earnings per share for the year (amount in Rs.)

28 Segment information
The company is mainly engaged in the business of setting up and managing hospitals and medical diagnostic services which constitute a single business

segment, These activities are mainly conducted only in one geographical segment viz, india. Therefore, the disclosure requirements under the Ind AS 108
"Operating Segments” are not applicable.
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Mainad Hospital & Institute of Oncology Private Limited
Notes to the financial statements

(Amounts in Rs, Million unless ctherwice stated)

Leasing arrangements: The company being a lessee

Operating lease arrangements
The Company's significant cancellable lsasing arrangements are mainly in respect of its hospital premi and equip
armangements charged to the Statement of Profit and Loss amounting to Rs.0.76 million(Previous Year -Rs.0.78 million).

ts. The aggregate lease rentals payable on these cancellable

Employee benefit plans

Defined contribution plans
The company has defined contribution plan in form of Provident Fund & Pension Schems and Employes State Insurance Scheme for qualifying employees. Under the Schemes, the company

Is required to contribute a specified percentage of the payroll costs to fund the benefits. The total expense recognised in the Statement of profit and foss in respect of such schemes are given

helow:
Year ended Year ended

Particulars
31-Mar-17 31-Mar18
Contribution to Provident Fund & Pension Schems, included under contribution to provident and other funds 1.14 0.88
Contribution to Employee State Insurance Scheme, included under staff welfare expenses 0.31 0.28
145 1,27

Defined benefit plans
The company offers gratuity plan for its qualified employees which is payable as per the requirements of Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972. The benefit vests upon completion of five years of

continuous service and once vested it is payable to employees on retirement or on termination of employment. In case of death while in service, the gratuity is payable imespective of vesting.

Valuation as at

The principal assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuations were as follows,

31-Mar-17 31-Mar-16 01-Apr-18
Discount rate(s) 7.25% 7.60% 7.80%
Expected rate(s) of salary increase 5.00% 5.00% 5.00%
Rate of return on plan assets 7.25% 7.60% 7.80%
Employee turnover rate 15.15% 12.90% 15.78%
Amounts recognised in statement of profit and loss in respect of this defined benefit plan are as follows. 31-Mar-17 Jt-Mar-16
Current setvive cost 0.26 0.21
Past service cost and (gain)/loss from setlements - -
Net interest expense 0.07 .05
Components of defined benefit costs recognised in the § 1t of profit and loss 0.32 0.26
Service cost recognised in employee benefits expense in Note 22 0.25 0.21
Net interest expense recognised in finance costs in Note 23 o0.07 005
Remeasurement on the net defined benefit liahility:
Return on plan assets (excluding amounts included in net interest expense) - -
Actuarial {gains) / losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions - -
Actuarial (gains) / losses arising from changes in financial assumptions - -
Actuarial (gains) / losses arising from experisnce adjustments (0.08) 0,08
Remeasuremant of plan assets 0.01 0.01
Adiustments for restrictions on the defined beneflt asset - -
Remeasurement on the net defined benefit liability recognised in other comprehensive income {0.04} g.08
The amount included in the balance sheet arising from the entity's obligation in respect of its defined benefit plans is as follows:

31-Mar-17 31-Mar16 01-Apr-18
Present value of funded defined benefit obligation {1.41) {1.14) {0.86)
Fair value of plan assets 0.22 0.18 0.18
Funded status {1.20} (0.95) {0.68)
Restrictions on asset recognised - - -
Net fiability arising from defined benefit obligation {1.20} {0.95) {0.68)
Mavements in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows. 31-Mar17 31-Mar-18
Opening defined benefit obligation 1.03 0,86
Current service cost 0.25 ax
interest cost 0.09 007
Remeasurement (gainsifiosses:
Actuarial gains and losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions - -
Actuarial gains and losses arising from changes in financial assumptions 0.04 -
Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments {0.05) {0.05)
Benefits paid 0.08) (0.086)

1.28 1,03

Closing defined benefif obfigation
Year ended Year ended

Mavements in the fair value of the plan assets are as follows.,
31-Mar17 31-Mar-16

Opening fair value of plan assels .18 0.18
Interest income 0.02 Q.01
Remeasurement gain foss): a.01 (0.01)
Return on plan assets (excluding amounts included in net inferest expense} “ -
Contributions from the employer ) - -

0.22 0.18

Closing fair value of plan assels

The fair value of the plan assets at the end of the reporting period for each category, are as follows
Fair value of plan asssts as at

St-Mar-17 31-Mar-16 01-Aprib

Corparate bonds - - -

Equity mutual funds - - -

Government securities - - -
Insurer-managed funds 0.22 0,18 0.18
0.22 .18 .18

Total




The actual return on plan assets was Rs,0,03 million (for the year ended March 31, 2016: Rs,0.01 miflion ).

Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of the defined obligation are discount rate, expected salary increase and mortality. The sensitivity analyses below have been

determined based on reasonably possible changes of the respective assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period, while halding all other assumptions sonstant.

The sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to changes in the welghted principal assumptions is:
¥ discount rate increases (decreases) by 1%, the defined benefit sbligation would decrease by Rs 0,07 million (increase by Rs 0.07 million) as at March 31, 2017

if salary growth rate increases {decreases) hy 1%, the defined benefit obligation would increase by Rs 0.08 million {decrease by Rs 0.08 million) as at March 31, 2017
The sensitivity analysis presented above may not be representative of the actual change in the defined benefit obligation as it is unlikely that the change in assumptions

would occur in isolation of one another as some of the assumptions may be correlated.

Furthermore, in preserting the above sensifivity analysis, the present value of the defined benefit obligation has been calculated using the projected unit credit method at the
end of the reporting petiod, which is the same as that applied in calculating the defined benefit obligation liability recognised in the balance sheet.

There was no change in the methods and assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis from prior years,
The average duration of the benefit obligation at March 31, 2017 is 5.59 years (a5 at March 31, 2016 6.52 years)

Maturily profile of defined benefit obligation:

Patticulars Asg at
3t-Mar7 31-Mar-18 21-Apri8

Within 1 year a.22 0.18 011
1-2 year 0.21 0.21 012
2-3 year .18 0.23 016
3-4 year 0.18 0.23 0.15
4-5 yaar 018 0.26 .17
5-10 year 0.60 1.26 1.00
>10 year 0.62 2.09 304

2.20 447 4,78




Malnad Hospital & Institute of Oncology Private Limited
Notes to the financial statements

{Amounts in Rs. Million unless otherwise stated)

31 Financial instruments

The carrying value and fair value of financial instruments by categories as at March 31, 2017, March 31, 2016 and April 1, 2015 is as follows:

Particulars Carrying value as at Fair value as at
3i-Mar-17 31-Mar-18 01-Apr-15 31-Mar-17 31-Mar-18 01-Apr-15

Financial assets
Amortised cost
Loans 0.24 0.33 0.39 0.24 0.33 0.38
Trade receivable 30.05 12.47 13.31 30.05 12.47 13.31
Cash and cash equivalents 3.01 1.69 2.03 3.01 1.68 203
Other financial assets 6.33 563 5.84 6.33 5.63 5.84
Total assets 39.63 2012 21.57 30.83 20.12 21.57
Financial liabilities
Amortised cost

" Loans and borrowings 1.80 2.86 2.35 1.80 2.86 2.35
Trade payables 12.70 10.99 7.48 12.70 10.89 748
Other financial liabilies 23.97 11.80 9.77 23.97 11.60 9.77
Total liabllities 38.47 25.45 19.58 38.47 25.45 19,58

The management assessed that fair value of cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, unbilled revenue, loans and trade payables, approximate their camying
amounts fargely due to the shork-term maturities of these instruments. Difference between carrying amounts and fair values of bank deposits, other financial
assets, borrowings and other financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost is not significant in each of the vears presented.

32 Financial risk management
The company's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: credit risk, liquidity risk and price risks which may adversely impact the fair value of its financial

instruments. The company has a risk management policy which covers risks associated with the financial assets and liabilities. The focus of risk management
commitiee is to assess the unpredictability of the financial environment and to mitigate potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the company.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. The company

is exposed to the credit risk from its trade receivables, unbilfed revenue, investments, cash and cash equivalents, bank depasits and other financial assets. The
rmaximum exposure to credit risk is equal to the carrying value of the financial assets. The objective of managing counterparty credit risk is to prevent losses in

financial assets.

a) Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables comprise a widespread customer base. Management evaluate credit risk relating to customers on an ongoing basis. If customers are

independently rated, these ratings are used. Otherwise, if there is no independent rating, risk control assesses the credit quality of the customer, taking into
account its financial position, past experience and other factors. Individual risk limits are set for patients without medical ald insurance. Services to customers
without medical aid insurance are settled in cash or using major credit cards on discharge date as far as possible. Credit Guarantees insurance is not purchased.
The receivables are mainly unsecured, the company does not hold any collateral or a guarantee as security. The provision details of the trade receivable is

provided in Note 11.1 of the financial statement.

For trade receivables, provision is provided by the company as per the below mentioned policy:

Particulars As at

31-Mar-17 31-Mar-18 01-Apr-15
Self paidiprivate patients- amount due for
< 2 months 2% 2% 2%
>2months 100% 100% 100%
Government
0 - 6 maonths 9% 9% 9%
& months - 1 year 17% 17% 17%
1-2year 36% 36% 36%
2 - 3year 57% 57% 57%
3 years and above 100% 100% 100%
TPAs (Third party Administrator)
0 - 6 months 7% 7% 7%
8 months - 1 year 17% 17% 17%

100% 100% 100%

More than 1 year

The Company's exposure to customers is diversified. No single customer contributes to more than 10% of the outstanding receivable and unbilted revenue as of
March 31, 2017, March 31, 2016 and April 1, 2015,

Geographic concentration of credit risk: The company has a geographic concentration of trade receivables and unbilled revenue in India.




b) Investments and cash deposits
The company limits its exposure to credit risk by generally investing in liquid securities and only with counterparties that have a good credit rating. The company

does not expect any losses from non- performance by these counter-parties, and does not have any significant concentration of exposures to specific industry
sectors,

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they become due. The company manages its liquidity risk by ensuring,

as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabiliies when due. Also, the company has unutilized credit limits with banks.

The company's corporate treasury department is responsible for liquidity, funding as well as settlement management. In addition, processes and policies related to
such risks are overseen by senior management,

The working capital position of the company is given below:

Particulars As at As at As at
31-Mar-7 31-Mar-16 01-Apr-18

Cash and cash equivalents 3.01 1.68 2.03

Total 3.01 1.68 2.03

The table below provides details regarding the contractual maturities of significant financial liabilities as at March 31, 2017, March 31, 2016 and April 1, 2015:

As at March 31, 2017

Particulars

Less than 1 vear 1-2 years 3-4 years 5 years and
Borrowings - Bank 0.74 0.78 0.14 0.01
Trade payables 12.70 - - -
Other financial liabilities 23.97 - - .
37.41 0.78 8.14 0.01
Particulars As at March 31, 2016
Less than 1 year 1-2 years 34 vears § yeats and
Borrowings ~ Bank 0.65 0.71 0.88 0.14
Trade payables 10.98 - - -
Other financial lisbilities 11.80 - - -
23.24 0.71 0.88 0.14
Particulars As at April 1, 2015
Less than 1 year 1-2 years 3-4 years 5 years and
Borrowings 0.21 0.21 0.25 0.56
Trade payables 7.48 - - .
Other financial liabilities 9.77 - - -
17.44 0.21 0.25 0.56

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The
company's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily ta the company's debt obligations with floating interest rates and investments.

Such risks are overseen by the company’s corporate freasury department as well as senior management.
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Note 33 Related Party Disclosure

A, Details of related parties:

Names of related parfies

Description of relationship
Holding Company (HC)

HealthCare Global Enterprises Limited

Fellow Subsidiaries(FS)

HealthCare Global Senthil-Multi Specialty Hospital Private Limited

Companies in which KMP / Relatives of KMP can exercise significant influence

Bharath Maspital and Institute of Oncology
Sada Sarada Tumor & Research Institute
B.C.C.H.I Trust

Gutti Malnad LLP

Key management personnel(KMP)

Non-executive directors
T.Narendra Bhat
Mallesh Hullamani

B.S Alatkumar
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{Amounts in Rs. Million unless otherwise stated)

Note 33 Related Party Disclosure
B Details of refated party transactions during the year:
Particufars Year ended Year ended,
-Mari7 31Mar-t
&ale of ph products and o
Gut Malnad LLP 0.581 0.7D,
Purchase of ph prodi and i}
HealthCare Global Enterprises Limited 810 7.78
Rent charges
Sada Sarada Tumor & Research Institute 0.59 0.64
Diagnostic charges
HealthCare Global Enterprises Limited 071 0.91
Interest Expense
HeafthCare Global Enterprises Limited a.00 .11
Loans [ Advances given
HealthCare Global Enterprises Limited 0.30 225
{.oans and advances received
HeafthCare Global Enterprises Limied 12.60 0.44
Detalls of related party balances outstanding:
Balances outstanding as af As at As at As at]
It-farA?]  3i-Maris) 31-Mar-1

Trade receivables
Gutth Malnad LLP 1.15 0.57 -
HealthCare Glohal Enterprises Limited 0.04 0.04 0.04
interest payable on lpan
HealthCare Global Enterptises Limited 0.30; 0.30 0.20
Qther Financial Liabilities - Current
HealthCare Globat Enterprises Limited 22,87 10.57 9.32
Borrowings
HealthCare Global Enterprises Limited - 0.30 141
Other Financlal assets - Current
Sada Sarada Tumor & Research Institute 2.60 1.88 1.66
B.C.C.H.I Trust 0.08 0.07 Q.08
Bharath Hospital and institute of Oncology - 0.02 0.02
Gutti Malnad LLP
& apurity & " fe) with
Gutti Malnad LLP 350 3.50 3.50]
Trade Payables
HealthCare Global Enterprises Limited 7.14 6.04 551




Deloitte
HaSkins & SElls Chartered Accountants

Deloitte Centre
Anchorage Il

100/2 Richmond Road
Bengaluru - 560 025
India

Tel: +91 (080) 6627 6000
Fax: +91 (080) 6627 6013

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ,
To The Members of Malnad Hospitals & Institute of Oncology Private Limited

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Malnad Hospitals & Institute of Oncology
Private Limited (“the Company”), which comprise the Balance Sheet as at 31 March, 2017, and the
Statement of Profit and Loss including Other Comprehensive Income, the Cash Flow Statement and the
Statement of Changes in Equity for the year then ended, and a summary of the significant accounting policies
and other explanatory information (hereinafter referred to as "the financial statements").

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the matters stated in Section 134(5) of the Companies
Act, 2013 (“the Act”) with respect to the preparation of these financial statements that give a true and fair
view of the financial position, financial performance including other comprehensive income, cash flows and
changes in equity of the Company in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in India,
including the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) prescribed under section 133 of the Act.

This responsibility also includes maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the
provisions of the Act for safeguarding the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting frauds and
other irregularities; selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and
estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal
financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the
accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the financial statements that give a true
and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

In conducting our audit, we have taken into account the provisions of the Act, the accounting and auditing
standards and matters which are required to be included in the audit report under the provisions of the Act,
the Rules made thereunder and the Order under section 143 (11) of the Act.

We conducted our audit of the financial statements in accordance with the Standards on Auditing specified
under Section 143(10) of the Act. Those Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from

material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and the disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal financial control relevant to the Company’s preparation
of the financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of the accounting estimates made by the Company’s Directors, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

N
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We believe that the audit evidence obtained by us is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion on the financial statements.

Opinion

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the aforesaid
financial statements give the information required by the Act in the manner so required and give a true and
fair view in conformity with the Indian Accounting Standards and the accounting principles generally
accepted in India, of the state of affairs of the Company as at 31 March, 2017, and its profit, total
comprehensive income, its cash flows and the changes in equity for the year ended on that date.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
1. As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, based on our audit, we report to the extent applicable that:

(a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge
and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit.

(b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the Company so far as
it appears from our examination of those books.

(¢) The Balance Sheet, the Statement of Profit and Loss including Other Comprehensive Income, the
Cash Flow Statement and Statement of Changes in Equity dealt with by this Report are in agreement

with the books of account.

(d) In our opinion, the aforesaid financial statements comply with the Indian Accounting Standards
prescribed under section 133 of the Act.

(e) On the basis of the written representations received from the directors as on 31 March, 2017 taken on
record by the Board of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as on 31 March, 2017 from
being appointed as a director in terms of Section 164(2) of the Act.

(f) With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls over financial reporting of the Company
and the operating effectiveness of such controls, refer to our separate Report in “Annexure A”. Our
report expresses an unmodified opinion on the adequacy and operating effectiveness of the Company’s

internal financial controls over financial reporting.

(g) With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with Rule 11
of the Companies (Audit and Auditor’s) Rules, 2014, as amended, in our opinion and to the best of
our information and according to the explanations given to us:

i. The Company does not have any pending litigations which would impact its financial position.

ii. The Company did not have any long-term contracts including derivative contracts for which there
were any material foreseeable losses.

iii. There were no amounts which were required to be transferred to the Investor Education and
Protection Fund by the Company.
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iv. The Company has provided requisite disclosures in the financial statements as regards its holdin,
and dealings in Specified Bank Notes as defined in the Notification S.0. 3407(E) dated the 8"
November, 2016 of the Ministry of Finance, during the period from 8" November 2016 to 30%
December 2016. Based on audit procedures performed and the representations provided to us by
the management we report that the disclosures are in accordance with the books of account

maintained by the Company.

2. As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2016 (“the order” or “CARO 2016”) issued by
the Central Government in terms of Section 143(11) of the Act, we give in “Annexure B” a statement on
the matters specified in paragraphs 3 and 4 of the Order.

For DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS
Chartered Accountants
(Firms’ Registration No. 008072S)

g

V.Balaji
Partner
(Membership No. 203685)

BENGALURU, May 23,2017
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ANNEXURE “A” TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
(Referred to in paragraph (f) under ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements’ section of

our report of even date)

Report on the Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting under Clause (i) of Sub-section 3
of Section 143 of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”)

We have audited the internal financial controls over financial reporting of Malnad Hospital & Institute of
Oncology Private Limited (“the Company”) as of 31 March 2017 in conjunction with our audit of the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended on that date.

Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls

The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial controls based
on the internal control over financial reporting criteria established by the Company considering the essential
components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over
Financial Reporting (“the Guidance Note™) issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. These
responsibilities include the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls
that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of its business, including
adherence to company’s policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and
errors, the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable
financial information, as required under the Companies Act, 2013.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal financial controls over financial
reporting based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Guidance Note issued by the
Institute of Chartered Accountants of India and the Standards on Auditing prescribed under Section 143(10)
of the Companies Act, 2013, to the extent applicable to an audit of internal financial controls. Those Standards
and the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal financial controls over financial reporting was
established and maintained and if such controls operated effectively in all material respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal
financial controls system over financial reporting and their operating effectiveness. Our audit of internal
financial controls over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal financial controls
over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the
design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. The procedures selected
depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the

financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls system over financial reporting.

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting

A company's internal financial control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal
financial control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions

\,
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of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and
that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorisations of
management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorised acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a

material effect on the financial statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls over financial reporting, including the
possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or
fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of the internal financial controls
over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the internal financial control over financial
reporting may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with

the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Opinion

In our opinion, to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the Company
has, in all material respects, an adequate internal financial controls system over financial reporting and such
internal financial controls over financial reporting were operating effectively as at 31 March 2017, based on
the internal control over financial reporting criteria established by the Company considering the essential
components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants

of India.

For DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS
Chartered Accountants
(Firms’ Registration No. 008072S)

N

V.Balaji
Partner
(Membership No. 203685)

BENGALURU, May.z, 2017
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ANNEXURE B TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
(Referred to in paragraph 2 under ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements’ section of

our report of even date)

@

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

™

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(a) The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars, including
quantitative details and situation of fixed assets.

(b) The Company has a programme of verification of fixed assets to cover all items in a
phased manner over a period of 3 years which, in our opinion, is reasonable having
regard to the size of the Company and nature of its assets. Pursuant to the programme,
certain fixed assets were physically verified by the Management. According to the
information and explanation given to us, no material discrepancies were noted on such

verification.

(¢) The Company does not have any immovable properties of frechold or leasehold land and
building and hence reporting under clause (i)(c) of the CARO 2016 is not applicable.

As explained to us, the inventories were physically verified during the year by the
Management at reasonable intervals and no material discrepancies were noticed on physical

verification.

The Company has not granted any loans, secured or unsecured, to companies, firms, limited
liability partnerships or other parties covered in the register maintained under section 189 of

the Companies Act, 2013.

The Company has not granted any loans, made investments or provided guarantees and hence
reporting under clause (iv) of the CARO 2016 is not applicable.

According to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has not accepted
any deposit during the year.

The maintenance of cost records has not been specified by the Central Government under sub-
section (1) of Section 148 of the Companies Act, 2013.

According to the information and explanations given to us, in respect of statutory dues:

(a) The Company has been regular in depositing undisputed statutory dues, including
Provident Fund, Employees’ State Insurance, Income-tax, Sales Tax, Service Tax,
Customs Duty, Excise Duty, Value Added Tax, cess and other material statutory dues

applicable to it to the appropriate authorities.

(b) There were no undisputed amounts payable in respect of Provident Fund, Employees’
State Insurance, Income-tax, Sales Tax, Service Tax, Customs Duty, Excise Duty, Value
Added Tax, cess and other material statutory dues in arrears as at 31 March 2017 for a
period of more than six months from the date they became payable.

(c) There are no dues of Income-tax, Sales Tax, Service Tax, Customs Duty, Excise Duty,
and Value Added Tax as on March 31, 2017 on account of disputes.

In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company
has not defaulted in the repayment of loans or borrowings to financial institutions and banks.
The Company has not issued any debentures and did not have any borrowings from

government.
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(ix)

)

(xi)

(xii)

(xiii)

(xiv)

(xv)

(xvi)

The Company has not raised moneys by way of initial public offer/ further public offer
(including debt instruments) and the term loans have been applied by the Company during the
year for the purposes for which they were raised, other than temporary deployment pending

application of proceeds.

To the best of our knowledge and according to the information and explanations given to us,
no fraud by the Company and no material fraud on the Company by its officers or employees
has been noticed or reported during the year.

The Company is a private company and hence the provisions of section 197 of the Companies
Act, 2013 do not apply to the Company.

The Company is not a Nidhi Company and hence reporting under clause (xii) of the Order is
not applicable.

In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company
has disclosed the details of related party transactions in the financial statements etc. as

required by the applicable accounting standards.

During the year the Company has not made any preferential allotment or private placement
of shares or fully or partly convertible debentures and hence reporting under clause (xiv) of

the Order is not applicable to the Company.

In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, during the year
the Company has not entered into any non-cash transactions with its directors or directors of
its holding, subsidiary or associate company or persons connected with them and hence
provisions of section 192 of the Companies Act, 2013 are not applicable.

The Company is not required to be registered under section 45-IA of the Reserve Bank of
India Act, 1934.

For DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS
Chartered Accountants
(Firms’ Registration No. 008072S)

e

V.Balaji
Partner
(Membership No. 203685)

BENGALURU, MayR2, 2017



Malnad Hospital & Institute of Oncology Private Limited

Rs. in Million
Balance Sheet as at Note No 31-Mar-17 I-Mar-16 81-Apr-15
ASSETS
Non-current assets
(a1} Property, Plant and Equipment 5 8.63 913 7.05
(b} Other Intangible assets & .10 013 216
{c) Financial Assets
{i} Other financial assets 8 £.33 5.61 5.47
(d) Deferred tax assets (Net) 262 3.08 3.02 3.18
{e} Incoms tax assets (Net) 263 018 388 0.01
Total Non - Current Assets 18.34 21.77 15.87
Current assefs
(a) Inventories 10 .98 0.96 0.97
(b} Financial assets
(i} Trade receivables 1 30.05 12.47 13,31
(i} Cash and cash equivalents 12 3.01 1.68 203
(i} Loans 7 0.24 033 0.38
(iv) Other financial assets 8 - 0.02 0.37
(¢} Other current assets 8 0,18 0.12 0,11
Total current assets 34.46 15.59 17.18
Total assets 55580 37.36 33.08
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
{a) Equity Share capital 13 8.50 8.50 9.50
(b) Other equity 14 0.01 (2.92) (2.84)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 8.51 6,58 6.56
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
{a) Financial Liabilities
(i} Borrowings 15 1.80 2.86 235
(b) Provisions 17 1.36 1.05 0.68
Total Non - Current Liabilitles 3.16 3.91 3.03
Current liabilities
(a) Financial Liabilities
(i) Trade payables 18 12.70 10.88 7.45
(ii} Other financial liabilities 16 23.97 11.60 8.77
{b) Other current liabilities 19 3.41 4,25 6.06
{c) Provisions 17 0.05 0.03 0.17
Total Current Liabilities 48,13 28.87 23.46
Total Liabilities 43.29 30.78 26,49
Total Equity and Liabilities 52,80 37.36 33.05
ro —o PR

See accompanying notes fo the financial statements

in terms of our report attached.
For Deloitte Haskins & Sells
Charterad Accountants

\

V. Balaji
Partner
O . o
[ CHARTERED %)
Place : BoyngollehgiCCouTATS -
Date : 27 -5~ '\3 )

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

0 \/“/

Dr. Mallesh Hullamani

Director

Place

Date ,25»5 ~RolF
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Malnad Hospital & Institute of Oncology Private Limited

Rs. in Million
Statement of Profit and Loss for the vears ended Note No. 31-Mar-17 31-Mar-16
I Revenue from Operations 20 46.69 38.03
it Other Income 21 0.04 0.21
I Total income (I+H) 46.73 39.24
IV Expenses
Purchases of Stock-in-trade 12.92 12.33
Changes in inventory of stock-in-irade {0.02) 0.01
Employee benefit expense 22 10.30 7.95
Finance costs 23 0.43 0.57
Depreciation and amortisation expense 24 1.72 1.67
Other expenses 25 17.13 16.51
Total expenses {IV) 42,48 30.04
V  Profit before tax (v} 4.25 0.20
Vi Tax expense
{1) Current tax 26.1 1.41 -
(2} Defarred tax 26.1 {0.06) 0.14
1.35 0.14
Vi Profit for the year {V-VI} 2.80 (.08
Vill  Other Comprehensive Income
(i) ltems that will not be reclassifiad to profit or loss
(a) Remeasurements of the defined benefit liabilities / (asset) 30.2 0.04 {0.06}
(b} Income tax on the above {0.01}) 0.02
0.03 {0.04)
IX  Total comprehensive income for the year {Vii+VIii) 2.93 0.02
Earnings per equity share
Basic {Face value of Rs.100 each) 271 30.64 0.63
27.2 30.54 0.63

Diluted (Face value of Rs, 100 each)
See accompanying notes to the financial statements
in terms of our report attached.

For Deloitte Haskins & Sells
Chartered Accountants

N

V. Balaji
Partner

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

Director

i Place :

[t

\J
el
DE-Matlesh Hulamani

Date: J3 -5 ~20(#




Malnad Hospital & institute of Oncology Private Limited
Rs. in Million

Cash Flow Statement for the years ended _31-Mar-17 __31-Mar16
Cash fliows from operating activities
Profit before tax for the year 4,25 0.20
Adjustments for:
Finance costs 0.34 0.52
Investment income {0.01) (0.02}
Depreciation and amortisation 1.72 ’ 1.67
Movements in working capital:
{Increase) / decrease in trade receivables (17.58) 0.84
{Increase}/ decrease in inventories {0.02) 0.01
(Increase) / decrease in other assets 0.03 0.42
Increase / (decrease) in trade and other payables 1.73 3.51
Increase / (decrease) in provisions 0.33 0.23
Increase / {(decrease) in other liabilities {0.84) {1.81)
Cash generated from operations {10.05} 557
Income taxes paid (net of refunds) 2.28 (3.87)
Net cash generated by / (used in) operating activities (7.7} 170
Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds on sale of financial assets {0.01) 0.08
Interest received 0.03 -
Amounts advanced by related parties 11.58 1.03
Payments for property, plant and equipment (1.21) (3.68)
Net cash (used in) / generated by investing activities 10.40 (2.57)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings - 0.95
Repayment of borrowings {0.87) -
interest paid {0.34) (0.42)
Net cash {used in} / generated by financing activities {1.31) 0.53
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 132 {0.34)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 1.89 203
3,01 1.69

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of theyeer
See accompanying notes to the financial statements

in terms of our report sttached.
For Deloitte Haskins & Sells For and on behalf of the Board g

Chartered Accountants K U/

"

A}
V. Balaji 1 Dr. Mallesh Hullamani DAY Narendra Bhat
Partner ; Director Dirgefor '
:
| Place:

Place :
ace &Ou‘\%m Date: gl 3-5 -HolF
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Malnad Hospital & institute of Oncology Private Limited

Notes to the financial statements
1 Malnad Hospital & Institute of Oncology Private Limited is engaged in seiting up and managing cancer hospitals, cancer centers and medical diagnostic
services. The registered office of the company is situated at No, 600/601, Irwin Road, Mysore - 570 001.

2 Significant accounting policies

2,1 Statement of compliance
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Indian Accounting Standards (“Ind AS") nofified under the Companies (Indian Accounting

Standards) Rules, 2015 and Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Amendment Rules, 2016, as applicable. For petiods up to and including the year
ended March 31, 2016, the Company had prepared its financial statements in accordance with the applicable Accounting Standards in India (‘previous
GAAP’). These are the Company’s first Ind AS financial statements. The date of transition to Ind AS is April 1, 2015. Refer Note 3 for the explanations of
transition to Ind AS including the details of first-ime adoption exemptions availed by the Company.

2.2 Basis of preparation and presentation
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments that are measured at fair values at the end

of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies below.

Historical cost is gensrally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services,

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly fransaction between market participants at the

measurement date.
In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2, or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair
value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs fo the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date;
Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

2.3 Use of estimates and judgement

In the application of the Company's accounting policies, the directors of the Company are raquired to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are nat readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based pn
historical sxperience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions 1o accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the
sstimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future

petiods,

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period that may
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

a) Revenue Recognition
Revenue from fees charged for inpatient and outpatient hospital/clinical services rendered to insured and corporate patients are subject to approvals for the

insurance companies and corporates. Accordingly, the company estimates the amounts likely to be disallowed by such companies based on past trends.
Estimations based on past trends are also required in determining the value of consideration from customers to be allocated to award credits for customers.

b} Useful lives of property, plant and equipment
The Company reviews the useful life of property, plant and equipment at the end of each reporting period. This reassessment may result in change in the

depreciation expense in future periods.

¢} Employee Benefits
The cost of defined benefit plans are determined using actuarial valuations. The actuarial valuation involves making assumptions about discount rates,

expected rates of return on assets, future salary increases, mortality rates and future pension increases. Dus to the long-term nature of these plans, such
estimates are subject to significant uncertainty.

d} Deferred Tax assets
The carrying amount of deferred tax asset is reviewed at sach reporting period and is reduced to the extent that it is no fonger probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

e) Valuation of deferred tax assets
The company reviews the carrying amount of deferred tax assets at the end of each reporting period. The policy for the same has been explained under

Note 2.10.2

2.4 Revenue recognition

2.5.1 Rendering of services
Healthcare Services
Revenue primarily comprises fees charged for inpatient and outpatient hospital services, Services include charges for accommodation, madical professional
services, equipment, radiology, laboratory and pharmaceutical goods used in freatments given to Patients. Revenue is recorded and recognised during the
peried in which the hospital service is provided, based upon the estimated amounts due from patients and/or medical funding entities. Unbilled revenue is
recorded for the service where the patients are not discharged and invoice is not raised for the service.
The service revenues ars presented net of related dostor fees and diagnostic chargss in cases where the company is not the primary obligor and does not
have the pricing latitude, e
Other Services
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Notes to the financlal statements
Income from Clinical Trials on behalf of Pharmaceutical Companies is recognized on completion of the service, based on the terms and conditions specified

to sach contract.
Other services fee is recognized on basis of the services rendered and as per the terms of the agresment.

2.5.2 Sale of Goods

Pharmacy Sales are recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership is transferred to the customer. Revenue is measured at the fair value of
the consideration received or receivable, taking into account contractually defined terms of payment and excluding taxes or duties collected on behalf of the
government. Revenue is reduced for rebates and loyalty points granted upon purchase and are stated net of retums and discounts wherever applicable,

2.5.3 Dividend and interest income

2.5

2.6

2.7

2.8

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the right to receive payment has been established (provided that it is probable that the econamic
benefits will flow tv the Company and the amount of income can be measured reliably).

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company and the amount of income can be
measured reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal autstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset's net carrying amount on initial

recognition.

Leases
Leases are classified as finance Isases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of awnership 1o the lessee. All other

leases are classified as operating leases.

Assets held under finance leases are initially capitalised as assets of the company at their fair value at the inception of the lease or, if lower, at the prasent
valus of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding fiability to the lessor is included in the balance sheet as a finance lease obligation. Lease
payments are apportioned between finance expenses and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of inferest on the remaining
balance of the liability.

Rental expense from operating leases is generally recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Where the rentals are structured
solely to increase in line with expected general inflation to compensate for the lessor's expected inflationary cost increases, such increases are recognised in
the year in which such benefits accrue. Contingent rentals atising under operating leases are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are

incutred.

Foreign currency translation

The functional currency of the Company and its Indian subsidiaries is the Indian Rupee (Rs.)

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for:

« exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating to assets under construction for future productive use, which are included in the cost of those

assets when they are regarded as an adjustrment to interest costs on those foreign currency borrowings;

« exchange differences arising from translation of long-term foreign currency monetary items recognised in the financial statements of the Company for the
period immediately before the beginning of the first Ind AS financial reporting period (prior to April 1, 2016), as per the previous GAAP, pursuant to the
Cormpany's chaice of avalling the exemption as permitted by Ind AS 101.

Nan-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in foreigh currencies are not retranslated.
Income and expense items in foreign currency are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly

during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs include:
() interest expense calculated using the effective interest rate method,

(ii} finance charges in respect of finance leases, and
(iii) exchange differences arising from foreign currency borrowings to the extent that they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs,

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assefs, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of ime to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their

intended use or sale.
Interest income sarned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing

costs eligible for capitalisation.
All ather borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Gavernment grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Company will comply with the conditions attaching to them and that the
grants will be received.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses aiready incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to
the Company with no future related costs are recognised in statement of profit and loss in the period in which they become receivable.




2.9

2.8.1

29.2

2.9.3

210

2,101

2.10.2

2.10.3

2.11

Notes to the financial statements

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs and termination benefits

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.

For defined benefit retirement benefit plans, the cost of providing benefits is determinad using the projected unit credit method, with actuarial valuations
being carried out at the end of each annual reporting period. Remeasurement, comprising actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the changes to the asset
ceiling (if applicable} and the return on plan assets (excluding net interest), is reflected in the balance shest with a charge or credit recognised in other
comprehensive income in the period in which they ocour. The service cost (indluding current service cost, past service cost, as well as gains and losses on
curtailments and settlements) is recognised in the Statement of profit and loss in the line item ‘Employee benefits expense’. Net interest is calculated by
applying the discount rate at the beginning of the period to the net defined benefit liabifity or asset. The net interest expense is recognised in the statement of

profit and loss in the line item 'Finance costs'.

Defined contribution plan

Contribution to defined contribution plans are recognised as expense when employees have rendered servicss entitling them to such benefits,

Compensated absences

Compensated absences which are not expected to occur within twelve months after the end of the period in which the employee renders the related services
are recognised at an actuarially determined liability at the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the Balance sheet date. In respsct of
cormpensated absences expected fo occur within twelve rmonths after the end of the period in which the employee renders the related services, liability for
short-term employee benefits is measured at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the related service.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sim of the tax currently payable and deferred tax,

Current tax
The tax currently payabile is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before tax’ as reported in the statemsnt of profit and loss

because of items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Company’s current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding

tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for alf taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of assets and liabiliies in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit,

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax rates that ars expected to apply in the period in which the liabifity is settied or the asset realised,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Company expects, at
the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and Habilities.

Deferred tax assets include Minimum Alternate Tax (MAT) paid in accordance with the tax laws in india, which is likely to give future economic benefits in the
form of availability of set-off against future tax liability. Accordingly, MAT is recognised as deferred tax asset in the Balance sheet when the asset can be
measured reliably and it is probable that the future economic benefit associated with the asset will be realised,

Current and deferred tax for the year
Current and deferred tax.are recognised in the Statement of profit and loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or dirsctly in equity respectively.

Property, plant and equipment
Propetty, plant and equipment held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes, are stated in the balance sheet at

cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Fraehold land is not depreciated. All repairs and maintenance costs are charged to
the income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred. Such assets are classified to the appropriate categories of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other property assets, commences when the
assets are ready for their intended use.

Cost of Praperty, plant and equipment which are qualifying assets includes, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Company's accounting policy.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets (other than freehold land and properties under construction) less their residual values over
their ussful lives, using the straight-ine method. The estimated useful fives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accourted for on a prospective basis.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as ownel assets. However, when thers is no
reasonable certainty that ownership will be obtained by the end of the lease term, assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their ussful
lives.

Estimated useful lives of the assets are as follows:

Buildings (Freehold) 60 years
Buildings {Leasehold) and other leasehold Lease term or useful life whichever is lower

improverments

Plant and Medical Equipment 10-15 years

Data processing equipment 3-8 years

Fumiture and fixtures 10 years

Office equipment 5 years p
Vehicles 8 years S
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Notes to the financial statements

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecoghised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expectsd to arise from the continued use of
the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the
sales proceeds and the carmying amount of the asset and is recognised in the Statement of profit and loss,

For transition to Ind AS, the Company has elected to adopt the cairying value of all of its property, plant and equipment recognised as of April 1, 2015
(transition date) measured as per the previous GAAP and use that carrying value as its deemed cost as of the transition date, except in respect of buildings
under finance lease recognised in previous GAAP, to the extent it included Jease component of land.

2.12 Intangible assets

2.12.1 Intangible assets acquired separately
Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment fosses.

Amortisation is recognised on a straightine basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful fife and amortisation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful
lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

2.12.3 Derecognition of intangible assets
An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expectsd from use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from
derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in

profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

2.12.3 Useful flives of intangible assets
Eetimated usaful lives of the intangible assets are as follows:

Type of asset Useful Life
Computer software and data processing software |6 years

2.12.4 Deemed cost on transition to Ind AS
For transition to Ind AS, the company has elected to continue with the carrying value of all of its intangible assets recognised as of April 1, 2015 {transition

date) measured as per the previous GAAP and use that carrying value as its deemed cost as of the transition dats,

2,13 Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value on the first-in-first-out basis. Net reafisable valus is the estimated selling price in the

ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling expenses. Cost of inventories comprises of all costs of purchase and other costs incurred in
bringing the inventories to their present location, after adjusting for VAT wherever applicable applying FIFO method.

Imported inventories are accounted for at the applicable exchange rates prevailing on the date of transaction.

2.14 Provisions
Provisiens are recognised when the company has a present obligation {legal or constructive) as a result of a past svent, it is probable that the company will

be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of the repotting period,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the prasent
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (when the effect of the time value of money is material),

2.15 Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial fiabilities (other than financial assets and financial fiabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in the statement of profit and loss.

Cash and cash equivalents
The Company considers all highly liquid financial instruments, which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash that are subject to an insignificant

risk of change in value and having original maturities of three months or less from the date of purchase, to be cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents
consists of balances with banks which are unrestricted for withdrawal and usage.

Financial assets at amortised cost
Financial assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost if these financial assets are held within a business whose objective is to hold these assets in

order to collect contractual cash flows and contractual terms of financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets are measured at fair value through profit or loss unless it measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income
on initial recognition. The transaction cost directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
immediately recognised in the statement of profit or loss

Financial iabilities
Financial iabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method

2.16 Impairment
(1} Financial assets (other than at fair valye)




Notes to the financlal statements

The company assesses at each date of balance sheet, whether a financial asset or a Company of financial assets is impaired. Ind AS 108 requires expected
credit losses to be measursd though a loss allowance. The company recognises lifetime expected losses for all contract assets and / or all trade receivables
that do not constitute a financing transaction. For all other financial assets, expected credit losses are measured at an amount equal to the twelve-month
expected credit losses or at an ameunt equal to the life time expected credit losses if the credit risk on the financial asset has increased significantly, since

initial recognition.

(il) Non-financial assets

Property, Plant and equipment and intangible asssts with finite life are evaluated for recoverability whenever there is an indication that their carrying amounts
may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount (i.e. higher of the fair value less cost to self and the value-in-use) is determined
on an individual asset basis unless the asset does not generate cash flows that are largely independent of those from other assets. In such cases, the
recoverable amount is determined for cash generating unit (CGU) 1o which the asset belongs,

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or CGU) is sstimated to be less than its carrying amount, the canying amount of the asset {or CGU) is reduced to it's
recoverable amount. An impairment foss is recognised in the statement of profit and loss.

2.17 Eamnings per share
Basic eamnings per share are computed by dividing profit or loss attributable to equity shareholders of the company by the weighted average number of

equity shares outstanding during the year.

Diluted sarnings per share is computed by dividing the net profit after tax by the weighted average number of equity shares considered for deriving basic
EPS and also weighted average number of equity shares that could have besen issued upon conversion of all dilutive potenfial equity shares. Dilutive
potential equity shares are deemed converted as of the beginning of the period, unless issusd at a later date. Dilutive potential equity shares are determined

independently for each pefiod presented.

3 Explanation of transition to Ind AS

3.1 The Company has prepared the opening balance sheet as per Ind AS of April 1, 2015 (the transition date) by recognising all assets and liabilities whose
recognition is required by Ind A8, not recognising iterns of assets or liabifities which are not permitted by Ind AS, by reclassifying items from previous GAAP
to Ind AS required under ind AS, and applying Ind AS in measurement of recognised assets and liabilities. However, this principle is subject to the certain
mandatory exceptions under Ind AS 101 and certain optional exemptions permitted under Ind AS 101 availed by the Company as detailed below,

b) Deemed cost for property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets
The Company has elected to continue with the carrying value of all of its property, plant and equipment and intangible assets recognised as of Aprit 1, 2015

(transition date) measured as per the previous GAAP and use that carrying value as its deemed cost as of the transition date.

4 The recondiliations between previous GAAP and Ind AS, and explanations for the significant differences on account of transition to Ind AS are explained

{1} Equity reconciliation
Rs. in Million

Particulars As at As at
31-Mar-16 0i-Apr-15

Total equity (Shareholders’ funds) under previous GAAP 6.56 6.56

Ind AS adjustments: - -

Yotal equity under Ind AS 6.56 6,56

{ii} Total comprehensive income reconciliation
Rs, in Miilion

Particufars Year ended
31-Mar-186
Net profit/ {loss) under Previous GAAP 0.02
ind AS adjustments:
Actuarial gains/ losses recognised on other comprehensive income 0.06
Deferred tax adjustments on the above (Net) {0.02)
Net profit/ (loss) under ind AS 0.06
Other comprehensive income under Ind AS
Actuarial gains/ losses recognised on other comprehensive incoms (0.06)
Deferred tax adjustments on the above (Net) 0.02
Total comprehensive income / loss) under Ind AS 0.02

(i} Reconciliation of statement of cash flow:

There are no material adjustments fo the statement of cash flows as reported under previous GAAP,




Malnad Hospital & Institute of Oncology Private Limited
Notes to the financial statements
(Amounts in Rs. Million unless otherwise stated)

Property, plant and equipment

As at As at As at
31-Mar-17 31-Mar-16 01-Apr-15

Plant and equipment 6.44 8.49 4.81
Office Equipment 017 0.18 0.02
Fumniture and Fixtures 0.96 0.95 0.79
Data processing equipment 8.36 0.63 0.80
Vehicles 0.70 0.88 0.63

8.63 9.13 7.05

Property, plant and equipment
Description of Assets Plant and Office Equipment| Furniture and | Data processing Vehicles Total
equipment Fixtures equipment

I. Cost or deemed cost )
As at 1 April, 2015 4.81 0.02 0.79 0.80 0.63 7.05
Additions 2.87 0.17 0.33 0.13 0.42 3.72
Balance as at 31 March, 2016 7.48 0.19 142 0.93 1.05 10.77
Additions 0.78 0.03 0.33 0.05 - 1.19
Balance as at 31 March, 2017 8.26 0.22 1.45 0.98 1.08 11.96
li. Accumulated depreciation
Depreciation expense 0.98 0.01 0.17 0.30 0.17 1.64
Balance as at 31 March, 2016 0.99 0.01 0.17 0.30 8.17 1.64
Depreciation expense 0.83 0.04 0.32 0.32 0.18 1.69
Balance as at 31 March, 2017 1.82 0.08 0.49 0.62 0.35 3.33
Net Block as at 31 March, 2016 6.49 0.18 0.95 0.63 0.88 9.13
Net Block as at 31 March, 2017 §.44 0.17 0.96 0.36 0.70 8.63




Malnad Hospital & institute of Oncology Private Limited
Notes to the financial statements
(Amounts in Rs. Million unless otherwise stated)

& Other intangible assets

As at As at As at
31-Mar-17 31-Mar-16 01-Apr-15
Carrying amounts of:
Computer software 0.10 0.13 0.16
0.10 0.13 0.16
Other intangible assets
Description of Assets Computer r Total
software
L Cost
As at 1 April, 2015 0.16 0.16
Additions - -
016 0.16

Balance as at 31 March, 2016
Additions

- -

Balance as at 31 March, 2017 0.16 0.16
Hi. Accumulated amortisation and impairment
Amortisation expense 0.03 0.03
Balance as at 31 March, 2016 0.03 0.03
Amortisafion expense 0.03 0.03
Balance as at 31 March, 2017 0.06 0.06
Net Block as at 31 March, 2016 0.13 0.13
0.10 0.10

Net Block as at 31 March, 2017
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Mainad Hospital & institute of Oncology Private Limited
Notes to the financial statements

(Amounts in Rs. Million unless otherwise stated)

7 Loans
31-Mar-17 3t-Mar-i6 04-Apr-18
Non Current Current Non Current Current Non Current Current
Loans and advances {unsecured) to employees
Considered good - 024 - 0.33 - 0.38
Total - 0.24 - 233 - 0.38
8 Other Financial Assets 3MMar-17 3-Mari6 o1-Apr15
Non Current Current Non Current Current Non Current Current
Security deposits 3.65 - 3.64 - 3.72 -
Advances to related partiss(Refer note 33) 2.68 - 1.97 - 1.75 -
Unbilled revenue " - - - - 0.37
Interest accrued on deposits - - - 0.02 - -
8.33 - 5.61 5,02 547 0.37
g Other Assets St-Mar17 31-Mar-16 01-Apr~18
Non Current Current Non Current Current Non Cutrent Current
Unsecured, considered good
Prepaid expenses - 0.18 - 0,12 - 0.11
= 018 = 0.12 - 8,11
10 Invertories
31-Mar-17 3-Mar-16 1-Apr-15
a} Inventories (fower of cost and net realisable value)
Medicines 0.92 8.90 .80
Other Consumables 0.08 0.06 0.07
0.98 0,86 0.87
11 Trade receivables 3tpar-i7 3-Mar-16 01-Apr-15
Non Current Current Non Gurrent Curre Non Current Current
Trade receivables (unsecured) consist of following
a) considered good - 30.05 - 12.47 - 13.31
b} considered doubtful - 3.68 - 8.68 - 8.55
- 38.73 - 2115 - 22.88
Allowance for doubtful debts (expected credit loss alfowance) - (8.68) - (8.68) o 8.55)
- 30.05 - 1247 - 13.31

tical Jient by

The company has used a p

ing the expected credit loss allowance for trade receivables based on a provision matrix. The provision tmatrix takes into account

historical credit loss experience and adjusted for forward looking information. The expecied oredit Joss allowance is based on the ageing of the days the receivables are due and the rates as

giver: in the provision matrix. The provision matrix af the end of the reporting period is as follows:

11.1 Movement in the expedied credit loss allowance

Balance at beginning of the year
Additional provision during the year
Reversal of provision during the year
Balance at end of the year

Note: Trade receivables include dues from companies in which any director is a directar or member
Companies in which any director is a director or member

Healthcare Global Enterprises Limited

Gutti Malhad LLP

12 Cash and cash equivalents

Balances with Banks
- In current accounts
~ In deposits accounts
Cash on hand
Cash and cash equivalents as per balance shest
Cash and cash equi as per stat t of cash flows

Year ended Year ended
31-Mar-17 31-Mar-16
8.68 8.55
- ©.87)
8.68 8.68
As at As at Asat
3t-Mar-17 21-Mar-16 O1-Apr-45
0.04 0.04 0.04
1145 0.57 -
As at As at Asat
31-Mar17 31-Mar-18 Oi-Apr-15
2897 1.27 1.87
- 0.36 -
.04 .06 0.06
3.01 1.69 203
3.01 1,68 2.02

Pursuant to the MCA notification G.8.R. 308(E) dated March 30, 2017, the details of Specified Bank Notes (SBN)* held and transacted during the period from Noverber 8, 2016 to December

30, 2016 are provided in the table below:
Other denomination Total
Particulars SBNs

Clasing cash in hand as on November 8, 2016 0.08 0.01 0.07
(+) Permitted receipts - 2,73 2.73
{-} Permitted payments - (0.03) {0.03)
{-y Amount deposited in Banks (0.06) (2.65) 2.71)
Closing cash in hand as on December 30, 2016 - 0.06 0.08

3407(E), dated the November 8, 2016

S %
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* The term 'Specified Bank Notes' have the same meaning provided in the notification of the Government of India, in the Ministry of Finance, Dspartment of Econoimic Affairs number 5.0,



Malnad Hospital & Institute of Oncology Private Limited
Notes to the financial statements

(Amounts in Rs. Million unless otherwise stated)

13 Equity Share Capital
As at As at As at
31-Mar17 31-Mar-16 1-Apr-1§
Authorised Share capital :
150,000 fully paid equity shares of Rs,100 sach 15,00 15.00 15.00
issued and subscribed capital comprises:
94,856 fully paid equity shares of Rs.100 each (as at March 31, 2016: 94,956, as at April 1, 2015: 84,858) 8,50 8.50 9.50
13.1 Fully paid equity shares
Number of shares Share capital
{Amount)
Balance at April 1, 2015 84,956 8.50
Issusd during tha year - -
94,856 9.50

Balance at March 31, 2016

Issued during the year
Balance at March 31, 2017 94,456 9.50

Fully paid equity shares, which have a par value of Rs, 100, carry ohe vote per share and carry a right to dividends The Company has only one class of equity share having a par value of
Rs.100/- each. Holder of squity shares is entitled to one vote per share. In the event of fiquidatior: of the Company, ths holders of the equity shares will be entitled to receive any of the
remaining assets of the Campany, after distribution of af preferential amount. However, as on date no such preferential amount exists. The distribition will be in proportion to number of

equity shares held by the shareholders.
18.2 Details of shares held by each shareholder holding more than 5% shares

As at March 31, 2017 As at March 31, 2018 As at Aptil 1, 2015
Number of % holding of Number of % holding of Number of % holding of
Shares held eguity shares Shares held equity shares Shares held equity shares
Fully paid equity shares
HealthCare Global Enterprises Limited 66,706 70.25% 66,706 70.25% 66,706 70.25%
14 Other equity
As at As at As at
Note 31-Mar-17 I1-Mar-i6 1-Apr-18
Retained earnings 14.1 0.02 (2.88}) {2.84)
Remeasurements of the defined benefit fabilities / (asset) 14.2 {0.01) (0.04) -
0,01 (2.82} (2.84)
14.1 Retained earnings
Year ended Year ended
3t-Mar-17 31-Mar-16
Balance at beginning of year {2.88) (2.84)
Profit attributable to owners of the cempany 2.90 0.08
Balance at end of year 0,02 {2.88)
14.2 Remeasurements of the defined benefit liabilities / {asset}
Year ended Year ended
3-Mar-17 31-Mar6
Balance at beginning of vear {0.04) -
Qther comprehensive income arising from remeasurernent of defined benefit obligation 0.03 (0.04)
Balance at end of year (0.01) {0.04)
15 Borrowings
As at March 31, 2017 As at March 31, 2016 As at April 1, 2015
Non Current Current Non Current Current Non Current Cutrent
Becured - at amortised cost
{} Termloans
from banks 1.61 - 2.32 - 0.95 -
(i) Vehicle Loan 0.19 - 0.24 - .28 =
(i) Loans and advance from related parties(Refer Note 33) - - Q.30 - 1.1 -
Total 1.80 - 2.86 o 2,35 -




15,1 Summary of borrowing arrangements

Particulars 31-Mar-17 31-Mar-16 If-Mar-15
Rs. Rs. Rs.
{i) Secured term loan from bank:
Facility-1
Non-current portion 0.57 0.78 0.85
Amounts included under Current maturities of fong-term debt 0.21 0.18 017
- Security: Term loan is secured by hypothecation against medical equipment of Malnad Hospital & Institute of
Oncology Private Limited purchased out of finance
- Rate of interest: Bani’s base rate + 2.75% p.a
- Payable in 84 monthly installiments commencing from the date of
Facility-2
Non-current portion 1.04 1.54 -
Amounts included under eurrent maturities of long-term debt 0.49 0.43 -
- Security: Term loan is secured by hypothecation against medical equipment purchased out of finance Malnad
Hospital & Institute of Oncology Private Limited.
- Rate of interest: Bank's base rate + 2.75% p.a
- Payable in 57 manthly installments commencing from the date of borrowing after moratorium petiod of 3
months,
{ii} Secured vehicle loan from bank:
Nonegurrent portion 0.18 0.24 0.28
Amounts included under Current maturities of long-term debt 0,04 0.04 0.04
{iii) Unsecured loans from related party, the Holding Company
Non-current portion - 0.30 11
Amounts included under Current maturities of long-term debt - - -
Repayment terms: Loan repayable as and when the internal geheration supports the repayment or a suitable
alternative third party funding is available.
Rate of interest: 12.00% p.a
Total 2,54 3.51 2.56
Non-current portion 1.80 2.88 2,35
Amounts included under Current maturities of long-term debt 0.74 8.85 g.24
16 Other Financial liabilities As at March 31, 2017 As at March 31, 2018 As at Aprit 1, 2045
Non Current Current Non Current Current Non Current Current
a) Current maturities of long-term debt (Refer note 15.1) - 0.74 - 065 - 0.21
b) Interest payable to holding company (Refer Note 33) - 0.30 - 0.30 - 0.20
) Advance payable to holding company (Refer Note 33) - 22.87 - 10.57 - 8.32
d} Payables on purchase of fixed assets - 0.08 - 0.08 - 0.04
Total - 23.97 * 11,60 - 8.77

As at March 31, 2017

As at March 31, 2016

As at April 1, 2015

17 Provisions

Mon Current Current Nan Current Current Non Current Current
Employee benefits
Gratulty (Refer note 30.2) 1.18 0.01 0.95 - 0.68 -
Compensated absenices 0.17 0.04 Q.10 0.03 - 0.17
Total 1.38 0.08 1.05 0.03 0.68 0.17
18 Trade Payables As at As at As at
3t-Mar47 M-Mar-18 01-Apr-48
Trade payables 12.7¢ 10.99 746
Total 12.70 10.98 7,48

There are no micro and small enterprises to whom the Company owes dues which are outstanding as at the balance sheet date.

The information regarding Micro Enterprises and Smalf Enterprises have been determined to the extent such parties have been identified on the basis of

information availabie with the Company,

As at March 31, 2018

Ag at Aprif 1, 2015

18 Other liabilities As at March 31, 2017
Non Current Current Non Current Current Non Current Current
{a} Advance from customers - 3.14 - 3.88 - 578
(b) Statutory remittances - D.27 - 0.26 - 0.30
Total - 3.41 - 4,25 - 6.08
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{Amgunts in Rs. Million unless otherwise stated)

20 Revenue from Operations

(a) Revenue from rendering of healthcare services
(b) Revenue from sales at pharmacies
(c) Other operating revenues

21 Other Income

a) Interest on bank depaosits
b) Miscellaneous income

22 Employee benefits expense

Salaries and wages

Contribution to provident and other funds (Refer note 30.1)
Gratuity Expenses (Refer note 30.2)

Staff welfare expenses

23 Finance costs

(a) Interest costs ~
- Interest on bank overdrafts and loans
- Interest on loans from related parties (Refer note 33)
- Interest on defined benefit obligations (Refer note 30.2)

{b} Other borrowing cost:
- Bank charges
- Loan processing charges

24 Depreciation and amortisation expense

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets
Total depreciation and amortisation expense

25 Other expenses

Power and fuel

House Keeping Expenses

Rent (Refer note 26.1)

Repairs to Buildings

Repairs to Machinery

Office Maintenance & Others
Insurance

Rates and Taxes, excluding taxes on income
Printing & Stationery

Advertisement, Publicity & Marketing
Travelling & Conveyance

Legal & Professional Fees

Audit Fee (Refer note 25.1)

Medical consultancy charges
Telephone Expenses

Provision for Bad Debts/(written back)
Lab charges

Miscellaneous expenses

25.1 Payments to auditors
a) For audit of financial statements
b) Out of pocket expenses and service tax on above

Year ended
March 31, 2017

Year ended
March 31, 2016

24,89 27.68
21.35 10.86
0,45 0.49
46,69 39,03
Year ended Year ended

March 31, 2017

March 31, 2016

0.01 0.02
0.03 0.19
0.04 0.21
Year ended Year ended
March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016
8.36 6.24
1.14 0.89
0.25 0.21
0.55 0.51
10.30 7.85
Year ended Year ended

March 31, 2017

March 31, 2016

0.34 0.40

- 0.11

0.07 0.05

0.02 -

- 0.01

0.43 0.57
Year ended Year ended
March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016

1.68 1.64

0.03 0.03

1.72 1.67
Year ended Year ended

March 31, 2017

March 31, 2016

0.43 0.36
1.04 0.77
0.786 0.79
0.11 0.06
0.08 0.05
0.77 0.57
0.10 0.09
0.08 0.11
0.36 0.26
0.32 0.51
0.65 0.22
0.18 0.08
0.17 0.17
8.89 8.01
0.13 0.14
- (0.87)
2.46 3.32
0.61 1.87
17.13 16.51
0.15 0.15
0.02 0.02
0.17 017
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(Amounts in Rs. Million unless otherwise stated)

26 Income tax expense

26,1 Income tax recognised in the Statement of profit and loss

Cutrent tax:
in respect of the current year 1.41 -
1.41 -
Deferred tax -
In respect of the current year {0.08) 0.14
{0.08) 0.14
Total Income tax expense recognised in the Statement of profit and foss 1.35 044

The reconciliation between the income tax expense of the company and amounts computed by applying the Indian statutory income tax rate to
profit before taxes is as follows:

Profit before tax for the year 4.25 0.20
Enacted income tax rate in India 30.90% 30.80%
Computed expected tax expense 1.31 0.06
Effect of:
Effect of expenses that are not deductible in determining taxable profit 0.04 0.08
1.35 0.14

26,2 Deferred tax balances

As at As at As at
31-Mar-17 3i-Mar-i8 01-Apr-15
Deferred Tax Assets 3.09 3.02 3.18
Total 3.08 3.02 3.18

Significant components of net deferred tax assets and Habilities for the year ended March 31, 2017 are as follows:

Deferred tax assets / (liabilities) in relation to Opening Recognised In Recognised in other Closing

Balance Statement of comprehensive Balance
Profit and Loss income

Property, plant and equipment {0.40) 0.08 - (0.31)

Provision for doubtful debts 2.68 - - 2.68

Defined benefit obligation 0.55 0.03 0.01 0.59

Tax losses 0.06 (0.08) - -

Others 0.13 - - 0.13

3.02 0,06 0.01 3.09

Significant components of net deferred tax assets and liabilities for the vear ended March 31, 2016 are as follows:

Deferred tax assets / (liabilities) in relation to Opening Balance Recognised in Recognised in other Closing Balance
Profit or Loss comprehensive
income

Property, plant and equipment (D.41) 0.01 - (0.40)
Provision for doubtful debts 3.10 (0.42) - 2.68
Defined benefit obligation 0.38 0,18 (0.02) 0.55
Tax losses - 0.06 - 0.06
Others 0.10 8,03 - 0.13

3.18 (0.14) (0.02) 3.02

Under the Income Tax Act, 1861, unabsorbed business losses expire 8 years after the year in which they originate. Tax benefits on unabsorbed business
losses have been recognised as deferred tax asset as it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with the asset will be realised.

26.3 Income tax assets {Net)

As at As at As at
31-Mar17 31-Mar-16 01-Apr-18
Advance Tax (Net of provision for tax) 0.19 3.88 0.01

0,18 3.88 0.01
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27 Earnings per Share

27.%1 Basic earnings per share

The eamings and weighted average number of equity shares used in the calculation of basic earnings per share are as follows.

Profit / (foss) for the year attributable to owners of the Company 2.0 0.06

The eamings used in the calculation of basic earnings per share 2.80 0.06

Weighted average number of equity shares for the purpeses of basic earnings per share 94 956 94 956

Basic earnings per share for the year {amount in Rs.} 30.54 0.63

27.2 Diluted earnings per share

The eamings and weighted average number of equity shares used in the calculation of diluted earnings per share are as follows.

Earnings used in the calculation of diluted earnings per share 2.90 0.08

Weighted average number of equity shares used in the calculation of diluted eamings per share 94,956 94,956
30.54 0.63

Diluted earnings per share for the year {amount in Rs.}

28 Segment information
The company is mainly engaged in the business of sefting up and managing hospitals and medical diagnostic services which constitute a single business

segment. These activities are mainly conducted only in ons geographical segment viz, India. Therefore, the disclosure requirements under the Ind AS 108
"Operating Segments” are not applicable.
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Leasing arr: ts: The ¢ v being al
Operating lease arrangements
The Company's significant cancellable leasing arrangements are mainly in respect of its hospital premises and equipments. The aggregate lease rentals payable on these cancellable

arrangements charged to the Statement of Profit and Loss amounting to Rs.0.76 million(Previous Year -Rs.0.79 million).

Employee benefit plans

Defined contribution plans
The company has defined contribution plan in form of Provident Fund & Pension Scheme and Employse State Insurance Scheme for qualifying employees. Under the Schemes, the company
is required to contribute a specified percentage of the payroll costs ta fund the benefits. The total expense recagnised in the Statement of profit and loss In respect of such schemes are given

below:

Particulars Year ended Year ended
31-Mar-17 31-Mar-16

Contribution to Provident Fund & Pension Scheme, included under contribution to provident and other funds 1.14 0.93

Contribution to Employee State Insurance Scheme, included under stal welfare expenses 0.31 0,28

1.45 1,27
Defined benefit plans
The company offers gratuity plan for #ts qualified employees which is payable as per the requitements of Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972, The benefit vests upon completion of five years of

continuous service and once vested it is payable to smployees on retirement or on termination of employment. In case of death while in service, the gratuity is payable irrespective of vesting.

Valuation as at

The principal assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuations were as follows,

31-Mar<17 31-Mar-16 01-Apr-15
Discount rate(s) 7.25% 7.60% 7.80%
Expected rate(s) of salary increase 5.00% 5.00% 5.00%
Rate of ratum on plan assets 7.25% 7.60% 7.80%
Employee turnover rate 15.15% 12.80% 18,78%
A ts rec ised in st % of profit and loss in respect of this defined benefit plan are as follows. 31-Mar-17 31-Mar-18
Current service cost 0.25 0.21
Past service cost and (gain)oss from setlements - -
Net intérest expense 0.07 0.05
Components of defined benefit costs recognised in the Stat of profit and loss 032 0.26
Service cost recognised in employee benefits expense in Note 22 0.25 8.21
Net interest expense recognised in finance costs in Note 23 0.07 Q.05
Remeasurement on the net defined benefit liability:
Returmn on plan assets {excluding amounts included in net interest expense) - -
Actuarial {gains) / losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions . ~
Actuarial {gains) / losses arising from changes in financial assunplions - -
Actuarial {gains) / losses arising from experience adjustments {0.05) 0.05
Remeasurement of plan assets 0.01 a.01
Adjustments for restrictions on the defined benefit asset - -
Remeasurement on the net defined benefit iability recognised in other comprehensive income {0.04} 0.08
The amount included in the balance sheet arising from the entity's obligation in respect of its defined benefit plans is as follows:

31-Mar-17 31-Mar-18 01-Apr-1§
Present value of funded defined benefit obligation (1.41) (1.14) (D.86)
Fair value of plan assets 0.22 018 g.18
Funded status {1.20} {0,895} (0.68)
Restrictions on asset recognised - - -
Net liability arising from defined benefit obligati {1.20} {0.95) {0.68}

31-Mar<17 31-Mar-16

Movements in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows.

Opening defined benefit obligation 1.03 0.86
Current service cost ‘ 0.25 0.21
Interest cost 0.08 .07
Remeasurement {gainsiflosses:
Actuarial gains and losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions - -
Actuarial gains and losses arising from changes in financial asstumptions 0.04 -
Actuarial gains and losses atising from expetience adjustments (0,05} {0.08)
Benefits paid (0.08) (0.08)
1,28 1.03

Closing defined benefit obligation
Year ended Year ended

Movements in the fair value of the plan assets are as follows.
31-Mar-i7 31-Mar-16
Opening fair value of plan assets 0.19 0.18
Interest income 0.02 oot
0.01 ©.01)

Remeasurement gain (foss):

Return on plan assets (excluding amounts included in net interast expense)} - -
Carttributions from the employer - .
Closing fair value of plan assets 0.22 0.19

The falr value of the plan assets at the end of the reporting period for sach categoty, are as follows
Fair value of plan assets as at

31-Mart7 31-Mar-1¢ 01-Apr-18

Corporate bonds - - -

Equity mutual funds - - -

Government securities - - -
Insurer-managed funds 0.22 0,18 018
.22 0.19 0.18

Total




The actual return on plan assets was Rs.0.03 millian (for the year ended March 31, 2016: Rs.0.01 million I
Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of the defined abligation are discount ra
determined based on reasonably possible changes of the respective assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period, while holding all other assumptions constant,
The sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to changes in the welighted principal assumptions is:

If discount rate increases {(decreases) by 1%, the defined benefit obligation would decrease by Rs 0.07 million (increase by Rs 0.07 milfon) as at March 31, 2017

if salary growth rate increases (decreases) by 1%, the defined benefit obligation would increase by Rs 0.08 million (decrease by Rs 0.08 million) as at March 31, 2017

The sensitivity analysis presented above may not be representative of the actual changs in the defined benefit obligation as it is unlikely that the change in assumptions
would oceur in isolation of one another as some of the assumptions may be correlated,

Furthermore, in presenting the above sensitivity analysis, the present value of the defined benefit obligation has been calculated using the projected unit credit method at the
end of the reporting period, which is the same as that applied in calculating the defined benefit obligation liability recognised in the balance sheet,

There was no change in the methods and assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis from prior years.
The average duration of the benefit obligation at March 31, 2017 is 5.59 years (as at March 31, 2016 6.52 years)

Maturity profile of defined benefit obligation:

te, expected salary increase and mortality. The sensitivity analyses below have been

Particulars As at
31-Mar-17 31-Mar-16 g1-Apr-18

Within 1 year Q.22 0.19 G141
1-2 year .21 0.21 0.12
2-3 year 0.19 0.23 018
3-4 year 018 0.23 015
45 year 0.18 0.28 017
5-10 year 0.60 1.28 1.00
>10 year 0.62 2.08 3.04

. 2,20 4.47 4,78
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31 Financial instruments
The carrying value and fair value of financial instruments by categories as at March 31,2017, March 312016 and April 1, 2015 is as follows:
Particulars Carrying value as at Fair value as at
3i-Mar17 31-Mar-18 01-Apr-i5 31-Mar-17 31-Mar-16 01-Apr-15
Financial assets
Amortised cost
Loans 0.24 0.33 0.39 0.24 0.33 0.39
Trade receivable 30.05 12.47 13.31 30.05 12.47 13.31
Cash and cash equivalents 3.01 1.69 2.03 3.01 1.69 2.03
Other financial assets 6.33 5.63 5.84 6.33 5.63 5.84
Total assets 39.63 20,12 21.57 39.83 20.12 21.57
Financial fiabilities
Amortised cost
Loans and borrowings 1.80 2.86 2.35 1.80 2.86 2.35
Trade payables 12.70 10.89 7.48 12.70 10.99 7.46
Cther financial liabiliies 23.97 11.80 8.77 23.97 11.60 9.77
Total liabilities 38.47 25.45 18.58 38.47 25.45 19.58
The management assessed that fair value of cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, unbilled revenue, loans and frade payables, approximate their carrying
amounts largely due to the shortterm maturities of these instruments. Difference between cairying armounts and fair values of bank deposits, other financial
assets, borrowings and other financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost is not significant in each of the years presented.
32 Financial risk management

The company's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: credit risk, liquidity risk and price risks which may adversely impact the fair value of its financial
instruments. The company has a risk management policy which covers risks associated with the financial assefs and liabilities. The focus of risk management
committee is to assess the unpredictability of the financial environment and to mitigate potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the company.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, The company

is exposed to the credit risk from its trade receivables, unbilled revenue, investments, cash and cash equivalents, bank deposits and other financial assets. The

maximum exposure to credit risk is equal to the ca
financial assets.

a} Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables comprise a widespread customer base.

account its financial position, past experience and other factars. Individual risk limits are s
without medical aid insurance are setfled in cash or using major credit cards on discharge d
The receivables are mainly unsecured, the company does not hold any collateral or a g

provided in Note 11.1 of the financial statement.

rrying value of the financial assets. The objective of managing counterparty credit risk is to prevent losses in

Management evaluate credit risk relating to customers on an ongoing basis. If customers are
independently rated, these ratings are used, Otherwise, if there is no independent rating, risk control assesses the credit quality of the customer, taking inte

For trade receivables, provision is provided by the company as per the below mentioned policy:

Particulars As at
31{-Mar-17 31-Mar-16 01-Apr-15

Self paidiprivate patients- armount due for
< 2 months 2% 2% 2%
>2months 100% 100% 100%
Government
0 - 6 months 9% 9% 9%
& months - 1 year 17% 17% 17%
1-2year 36% 36% 36%
2 - 3year 57% 57% 57%
3 years and above 100% 100% 100%
TPAs (Third party Administrator)
0 - 6 months 7% 7% 7%
6 months - 1 year 17% 17% 17%

100% 100% 100%

More than 1 year

The Company's exposure to customers is diversified, No sin
March 31, 2017, March 31, 2016 and April 1, 2015.

Geographic concentration of credit risk. The company has a geographic concentration of trade receivables and unbilled revenue in India.

et for patients without medical aid insurance. Services to customers
ate as far as possible. Credit Guarantees insurance is not purchased.
uarantee as security. The provision details of the trade receivable is

gle customer contributes to more than 10% of the outstanding receivable and unbilled revenue as of



b} Investments and cash deposits
The company limits its exposure to credit risk by
does not expect any losses from non-

sectors,

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the company will not be able to meet its financi
as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient fiquidity to meet its liabi

The company's corporate treasury department is responsible for liquidity,
such risks are overseen by senior management.

The working capital position of the company is given below:

generally investing in liquid securifies and only with counterparties that have a good credit rating. The company
performance by these counter-parties, and does not have any significant concentration of exposures to specific industry

al obligations as they become due. The company manages its liquidity risk by ensuring,
lities when due. Also, the company has unutilized credit limits with banks,

funding as well as setlement management, In addition, processes and policies related to

Particulars As at As at As at
31-Mar47 31-Mar-16 01-Apr-15
Cash and cash equivalents 3.01 1.68 2.03
Total 3.01 1.69 2.03
The table below provides details regarding the contractual maturities of significant financial liabilities as at March 31, 2017, March 31, 2016 and April 1, 2015:
Particulars As at March 31, 2047
Less than 1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years 3-4 years 8 years and
Borrowings - Bank 0.74 0.78 0.88 0.14 0.01
Trade payables 12.70 - - - -
Other financial liabilities 23.97 - - - -
37.41 0.78 0.88 0.14 0.01
Particulars As at March 31, 2016
Less than 1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years 3-4 vears § years and
Borrowings - Bank 0.65 0.71 0.83 0.88 0.14
Trade payables 10.89 - - - -
Other financial liabilities 11.60 - - - -
23.24 0.71 0.83 0.88 0.14
Particulars As at April 1, 2015
Less than 1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years 3-4 years 5 years and
Borrowings 0.21 0.21 0.22 0.25 0.56
Trade payables 7.46 - - - -
Other financial liabilities 98.77 - - - -
17.44 0.21 0.22 0.25 0.58

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial in
company’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates
Such risks are overseen by the company’s corporate treasury department a
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primarily te the company’s debt obligations with floating interest rates and investments.
s well as senior management.
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Note 33 Refated Party Disclosure

A. Details of related parties:

Bescription of relationship Names of related parfies
Holding Company (HC) HealthCare Giobal Enterprises Limited
Fellow Subsidiaties(FS) HealthCare Global Senthil-Muli Specialty Hospital Private Limited

Companies in which KMP / Relatives of KMP can exercise significant influence
Bharath Hospital and Institute of Oncelogy

Sada Sarada Tumor & Research Institute
B.C.C.H. Trust
Gutti Malnad LLP

Non-executive directors
T.Narendra Bhat
Mallesh Hullamani

B.& Ajaikumar

Key managsment personnsl{KMP)




